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a letter from rwanda

FAMILY TIES
Part of our mission for change includes empowering
smallholder tea farmers like those at ASSOPTHE
in Rwanda, who we’ve helped secure funding to
increase their ownership in the factory which
processes their tea.

“Dear shareholders,
I would like to convey our greetings and thanks to Cafédirect for helping
us towards getting the Fairtrade certification that we are looking for.
We are a co-operative of over 4500
smallholder producers of tea who
are providing 70% of the green leaf
supplied to SORWATHE tea factory.
SORWATHE is already Fairtrade
certified and have encouraged us
also to achieve this status.
Fairtrade certification will help
us get the Fairtrade premium
which can be used to help towards
solving a number of problems
faced within the communities of
the Rulindo and Gicumbi districts
of Rwanda. In particular, access to
enough education and healthcare
facilities is a real problem. We
only have one medical centre in
Kinihira and it is not sufficient nor
near the people. Health insurance
for tea beneficiaries is almost not
affordable. Fairtrade premiums
may help us in installing one small
medical centre that will resolve

problems caused by the long
distance between people’s homes
and the old medical centre of
Kinihira. Likewise, education for
children is absent in our tea zone.
The construction of child-care
centres in two different places may
be a response for such a problem.
We are interested in working in
partnership with Cafédirect rather
than other tea buyers because
Cafédirect has manifested a good
will to work with us. The Cafédirect
team has visited us and advised
us a great deal in the process
of Fairtrade certification. Our
co-operative is now the first tea
co-operative in Rwanda to have
applied for Fairtrade certification.
We also now own 10% of the shares
of the SORWATHE tea factory and
we thank Cafédirect very much for
their support in that endeavour.

We really appreciate the Cafédirect
partnership and would be worse off
without it. That is why we decided
to maintain and strengthen that
wonderful co-operation. We look
forward to being a full part of the
Cafédirect Producer Partnership
Programme in the future.
Our best regards and hopes
for a strong future partnership for
our two organisations.”

Prosper Mulindwa,
Manager of ASSOPTHE
CYOHOHA-RUKERI Co-operative

Geoff Tudhope plants a coffee seedling
on the slopes of Mt.Kilimanjaro at KNCU’s
75th anniversary celebrations
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CHAIR’S MESSAGE

WELCOME TO OUR
ANNUAL REPORT
As acting Chair at last year’s AGM,
I announced Krishna Gopala would
be standing down from the Board.

profitability enabled an increase of 8.5% this year
in Producer Partnership Programme (PPP) funding.
Turning to the future, it is clear that volatility will
continue, and we must anticipate a significant drop
in UK consumer confidence for some time to come.
Krishna’s term had finished
Our purpose remains unchanged, but flexibility
and he chose to focus his time and agility are crucial, with tough choices ahead.
and energy on his business
However, I want to reassure you that the Board and
interests in Los Angeles.
Executive Team are resolved to drive forward in the
The Board and the
UK market, making our brand evermore distinct to
Guardians (Cafédirect
attract and delight existing and new consumers.
Producers Ltd, Equal
In parallel, and following extensive dialogue with
Exchange, Oxfam, Traidcraft, growers, we have together developed innovative
and Twin Trading) have since
plans to strengthen their participation through
conducted a succession
further investment in Cafédirect Producers Ltd (CPL).
process, and I was delighted
It is time to broaden our partnership with them to
and honoured to accept
further increase their participation and engagement
their unanimous support to become the new Chair.
in all we do.
My passion is to increase fairness in the world.
Finally, taking into account the company’s Gold
Many of you will know that I first joined the Cafédirect
Standard principles, the level of profitability, our
Board as an independent non-executive Director in 2000. future investment plans, and the current financial
In addition to Cafédirect, I am a mentor with Merryck
climate, the directors are recommending a dividend
& Co, and the Deputy Chair of The World’s Children’s
of 2p per share.
Prize Foundation, a Swedish-based global enterprise
I hope you find this Annual Report as stimulating
empowering children and promoting their rights.
as we do. Thank you for your support.
This past year has been an extraordinary one for
all of us. Thank you to all employees, growers, and
business partners who have done such a fine job despite
uncertain and volatile times. I would also like to pay
special tribute to Anne MacCaig for her calm insight,
energy, and achievements. I am particularly proud that
our reliability and consistency are highly valued by our
Geoff Tudhope,
grower partners, and that effective management of our
Chairman, Cafédirect plc

CEO’S MESSAGE

SETTLING IN
I joined Cafédirect in March of 2008, and it is a great privilege for me to lead such a
pioneering organisation. My first seven months have given me insight into the powerful
ability Cafédirect has to change lives and build communities, both for producer partners
and for consumers and shareholders who are also part of Cafédirect.
My visits to Mexico and
Tanzania showed me
the importance of the
multiple levels of support
we provide to our grower
partners. I went to the
village of Isuba in Tanzania
to visit our partners
RSTGA. The welcoming
celebrations were
unforgettable. Cafédirect
premiums paid for the
creation of bore holes and pumps to provide clean water
for the entire community. This prevents a daily 10-mile
walk for water, allowing time for children to go to school.
Then in October I travelled to the World Export
Development Forum in Geneva with Willington
Wamayeye, the General Manager and driving force
behind the Gumutindo Coffee Co-operative in Uganda.
We showed how the profits we’ve reinvested over
the years have enabled Gumutindo to found, build,
and strengthen its business. The development of their
know-how and expertise has enabled them to improve
the quality of Cafédirect’s Mt. Elgon Organic Gourmet
coffee beans and increase their customer base.
That quality was recognised this year in the UK when
Mt. Elgon Organic Gourmet coffee beans received
three Gold Stars in the Guild of Fine Food’s Great
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Taste Awards – the highest possible commendation.
This was a demonstration to a world-wide audience
that Cafédirect helps build stronger, sustainable
businesses and livelihoods.
I am pleased to say that in 2007/8, including
matched funds raised by our implementation partners,
we have provided record levels of investment in
grower communities, and our purchases of tea, coffee,
and cocoa have increased. Growing our sales in a
competitive market has been a significant challenge,
and I am very pleased that, despite the current
economic conditions, sales have not contracted.
Financial and economic instability have been and will
continue to be immense challenges for everyone who is
a part of Cafédirect, including our customers. However,
we embrace these challenges confident in the strength
of our business model and its benefits to all stakeholders.
I would like to thank everyone for the support you
have given us in the last year, and we hope you will
continue to encourage your families and friends to
become part of Cafédirect in the year to come.

Anne MacCaig
Chief Executive, Cafédirect plc

Anne MacCaig discussing
the UK market with members
of RSTGA in Tanzania
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6
ACCOUNTABILITY

A map listing each of the six themes and its corresponding
points from our Gold Standard can be found at

4

RELATIONSHIPS

You can find a full version of the Gold Standard
on our website at:

3

ENVIRONMENT

our commitments, a summary of the
year’s achievements, and examples
highlighting our work in each area.
We hope this report will give you a
clear sense of both our challenges and
achievements from the past year, and
a glimpse of where we’re headed.
As we strive to improve the way
we measure and report on our impacts,
we would welcome any feedback you
might have. We know it’s a process,
and that we might not get it right the
first time, but we are aiming to provide
the type of transparency and information
you would expect from Cafédirect.
Our new contact information can
be found on the back cover of this
report, or you can email us at
info@cafedirect.co.uk.

QUALITY

Cafédirect’s commitments are defined
in our Gold Standard, which has
guided our business since 2003.
Created to ensure the publicly traded
plc would not veer from the principles
on which it was founded, the Gold
Standard informs our goals, strategic
direction, and the way in which we
operate. From how we buy our coffee,
tea, and cocoa from farmers in the
developing world, to how we treat
our employees and business partners
here in the UK, the Gold Standard
is the yardstick by which we judge
our success.
This year’s Annual Report is
organised around six major themes
encapsulated in the Gold Standard.
Each section is devoted to one theme
and includes a short description of

2
BUSINESS

This year we’ve taken a fresh look at both our commitments
and our impacts. The result is an Annual Report with a
different look, feel, and format from those before.

GROWERS

CAFÉDIRECT:
THE GOLD STANDARD

1

Freshly picked coffee cherries
from Chiapas, Mexico
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GROWERS

2
BUSINESS

1. G
 ROWERS
ARE THE HEART
OF WHAT WE DO

1

3
QUALITY

4
ENVIRONMENT

We buy direct from smallholder growers where possible, pay a fair
price (always at or above the Fairtrade minimum), jointly create our
policies with growers, and use our position as buyer to empower
disadvantaged growers in the global marketplace. We seek to
reinvest half of our profits into the businesses and communities
of our grower partners.

5
and strengthen their organisations.
When three of our partners faced
Fairtrade Labelling Organisations
(FLO) suspensions this year, we
provided vital support to their
efforts to regain certification and
all three are now re-instated.

6
ACCOUNTABILITY

Our Producer Partnership
Programme (PPP) is the unique
means by which we implement
our mission of changing lives and
building communities among our
grower partners. This year we
undertook pioneering work helping
growers adapt to climate change,
manage volatile commodity prices,

RELATIONSHIPS

2007/08: Review

GROWERS ARE THE HEART OF WHAT WE DO
Breakdown of Producer Partnership Programme (PPP) impact areas

PPP
impact area

Cafédirect
profits
invested

Selected
achievements

Governance &
Compliance

£55,892

3 FLO* suspended partners regained certification
8 Coffee partners utilise new governance tools
13 Partners modified their constitutions and norms

Management &
Operations

£87,017

19 Coffee partners used price risk managment tools
10 Coffee partners developed/updated strategic plans

Quality Improvement

£67,259

3 Tea partners maintained the HACCP** food safety standard

Environmental
Initiatives

£169,704

2 Tea partners have improved their energy efficiency
3 Partners developed climate change adaptation strategies and began
implementation

Networking &
Joint Learning

£95,301

38 P
 artners and 3 export agencies participated in joint events with
other partners
6 Partners participated in joint marketing initiatives

New
Opportunities

£42,741

2 New tea partners added
1 New cocoa partner agreed and co-funding secured

Linking Producers and
Consumers & Impact
Assessment

£79,416

82% of partners participated in Cafédirect events
13 partners visited London and Cafédirect staff made 11 visits abroad

PPP Management

£60,848

Management fees within industry-standard 10% of programme cost

SUB-TOTAL

£658,178

An increase of 9% from 2006-07

Additional Funds

£706,978

Matched funds were raised by Cafédirect and PPP partners Twin and Imani,
and were invested across all PPP impact areas.

TOTAL

£1,365,156

An increase of 5% from 2006-07

*FLO = Fairtrade Labelling Organisations International
**HACCP = Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points

% of PPP budget by Impact Area

E
 nvironmental Initiatives (26%)
N
 etworking & Joint Learning (15%)
M
 anagement & Operational SKILLS (13%)
Information Development & Impact Assessment (13%)
Q
 uality Improvement (10%)
 P
 PP Management (9%)
G
 overnance & Compliance (8%)
N
 ew Opportunities (6%)
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1
The 2006/7 Annual Report began with a letter from Rufino Herrera, General Manager
of FEDECARES in the Dominican Republic, and his beautiful words to Cafédirect
following our support in the wake of last year’s devastating hurricanes.

2

3
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4
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5
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The co-operative’s only
truck buried in mud
after the storm

“The scale of loss was really incredible, particularly
because the storms hit at the height of harvest season.
But it wasn’t just coffee trees that were destroyed, it
was the crops farmers use to feed themselves and their
animals,” Zachary said. “Whole communities changed,
and many people lost their homes and possessions.
In Los Cacaos, in the mountains near Santo Domingo,
the river bed – not the water level, but the actual bed
itself – raised up 15 metres!
“Visiting families, what struck me was their
incredible faith, their strength of character, their
optimism. It was humbling. It’s one thing to come to
work every day in London and know we are making
a difference in people’s lives; it’s another thing
completely to go and see firsthand. It only inspired me
more, and I want to thank everyone for their support
of Cafédirect and say job well done, because we really
are changing lives and building communities.”
Our Haitian coffee partner RECOCARNO faced a
difficult 2008 hurricane season. Coming on the heels of
heavy rains, Hurricanes Hanna and Ike brought massive
flooding to the country in early September. Over 300
of RECOCARNO’s members lost their homes,
not to mention 85% of their local food crops
and 30-40% of their coffee harvest.
Cafédirect invested an additional £10,000
to help RECOCARNO farmers clear debris
from their coffee gardens, repair damaged
coffee trees, and restore lost shade cover.
RECOCARNO’s Executive Coordinator, Jean
Luckner Bonheur, wrote to us to express the
cooperative’s “profound gratitude for your
incredible support. It is a sign of solidarity
between North and South”. For us, it is part
and parcel of the relationships we build with
all our partners.

BUSINESS

In October of 2007, Tropical Storm Noel tore across the
Dominican Republic, soaking the island with torrential rains.
Only a few weeks later, Hurricane Olga descended, and the
already swollen rivers exploded. The ensuing mud slides
knocked out power for up to a month in some areas. Roads
were permanently destroyed, valleys shifted, and thousands
of animals died.
Not only did Rufino lose his home, and the school
from which he and his children graduated, more than 50
FEDECARES members lost their lives, 220 families were
displaced, and more than a million pounds of coffee
was lost – nearly half their crop.
With limited government support for the farmers,
many of whom are completely dependent on their
coffee for survival, Cafédirect invested an extra £20,000
in programmes to support FEDECARES’ reconstruction
efforts. The funds were used to repair infrastructure,
solidify top soil, stabilise the surviving crop, clear debris
and replant lost shade and coffee trees.
In August this year, Zachary Dominitz, Head of
Corporate Affairs, travelled to the island to visit the
farmers and see firsthand their reconstruction efforts.

GROWERS

Rebuilding after the storms

GROWERS ARE THE HEART OF WHAT WE DO

Paying more when it matters
Cafédirect and our tea partners go one
step further in fine tuning our relationship
Silver Kasoro-Atwoki, a member
of the Fairtrade Foundation’s Board,
the African Fairtrade Network,
and former Premium Committee
Chair at our tea partner Mabale
in Uganda, participated in the
pricing consultation.
“We didn’t have a minimum
tea price from FLO, yet Cafédirect,
in its wisdom, had one long before
FLO. It’s the best for us and it took
into consideration producers’
concerns,” Silver said.
Paul Rodin, Head of Cafédirect’s
Supply Chain, added, “We are
proud of pioneering a minimum
price for Fairtrade tea and, in
consultation with our grower
partners, we have continued to
evolve our pricing model over the
years. This latest version allows us
to better support growers when
they need it most.”

Silver Kasoro-Atwo

ki

“It’s the best
for us and it
took into
consideration
producers’
concerns”

2008/09 CAFÉDIRECT PRICE POLICY (UGANDAN TEA,
INCLUDING PREMIUMS)
CAFEDIRECT
FAIRTRADE
non-fairtrade

ACTUAL PRICE PAID – INCLUDING PREMIUM
($/KILO)

In 2003 we pioneered a minimum
price for Fairtrade tea. Since that
time, in yearly reviews, we have
worked with our tea partners to
agree on continual improvements.
These yearly reviews with grower
organisations have become a key
part of our aim to involve growers
in all aspects of our business.
The goal of our tea payment
model is to support growers when
they need it most, which is when
the market price for tea is low.
Indeed, this is what the entire
concept of Fairtrade is built upon.
Cafédirect’s payment model still
includes three basic parts: a base
price per kilo, a sustainability
allowance, and a quality differential,
all of which tailor our policy to
individual grower organisations and
create positive incentives for quality.
The main difference in
the newest revision is that the
sustainability allowance and the
quality differential are gradually
reduced as the market price
increases because growers no
longer need this support. However,
as illustrated in the graph, our
$0.60 social premium (compared
to Fairtrade’s $0.50 premium),
means we have always paid more
than both non-Fairtrade and other
Fairtrade companies alike. The new
pricing model came into effect
on 1 May 2008.

3.00

2.50

2.00

1.50

1.30
1.30

1.40

1.50

1.60

1.70

1.80

1.90

2.00 2.10

MARKET PRICE ($)

12 | 13 CAFÉDIRECT PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2007-08

2.20 2.30

1
GROWERS

An access road in the tea fields
of Mpanga in Uganda
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Where “credit” is still a good word

Eulogio Rusoke, Chairman of the Board at Mabale,
said, “Accessing commercial loans is extremely
difficult because the terms and conditions are so
stringent that people cannot meet them. The SACCO
will allow them to access funds on affordable terms
with a 3-6 month grace period to repay them.
Farmers can use the money for expanding their
tea gardens or diversifying their sources of income,
perhaps by also growing bananas or raising goats.”
Once the process of looking for donors is
complete, the SACCO will be a new source of
stability and flexibility for the tea farmers at Mabale
and Mpanga.

5
RELATIONSHIPS

6
ACCOUNTABILITY

Following in the footsteps of the Kayonza Tea
Growers’ Factory, our tea partners at Mabale and
Mpanga requested our support to set up a credit
union. As a not-for-profit entity, the credit union
will provide members with an opportunity to save
money and take loans for investment into their
homes and farms.
Why not find a Ugandan bank to offer such services?
The current interest rates available from local banks are
between 24-26%. Compare that to the less than 10%
we are accustomed to here in the UK. The credit union,
or SACCO (Savings and Credit Co-operative Union), will
lend money to tea farmers at around 13%, a much more
affordable interest rate.

ENVIRONMENT

Say the word ‘credit’ these days, and you’ll likely see a grimace appear on the face
of your audience. If you think credit is increasingly tough to come by in the UK,
try looking for a loan as a rural tea farmer in Uganda.

4

GROWERS ARE THE HEART OF WHAT WE DO

David meets Goliath in the world of tea and coffee
Global tea and coffee trade is largely controlled by multinational companies who
funnel most of their profit into the pockets of the developed world. With coffee,
for example, 69% of the market is controlled by the top five companies: Nestlé,
Philip Morris (who own Kraft), Sara Lee, Procter & Gamble, and Tchibo*.
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Cafédirect was started to
support disadvantaged smallholder
farmers who so often see only a tiny
percentage of the value of what
they produce. This year we helped
coffee and tea farmers in Uganda
and Sri Lanka band together to
take some of that value back.
The coffee farmers in Southwest
Uganda specialise in growing a
strongly flavoured Robusta crop.
When their original co-operative
structure collapsed in 1996,
they began exporting through a
third party agency called UNEX
who, of course, took a cut of
the earnings. Having become a
Cafédirect partner in 2001, the
farmers received organisational

development advice and business
training as part of our Producer
Partnership Programme (PPP).
In 2006, ten village-based primary
co-operatives decided to form a
union to take back the exporting
part of their business.
They’ve called their union the
Ankole Coffee Producers Cooperative Union Ltd (ACPCU), and
the farmers have created a business
plan and successfully applied for
credit to fund an organic conversion
programme and control their own
coffee from farm to export. This
transformation illustrates the power
that assistance and training have in
helping a group of co-operatives
become a united force.
John Nuwagaba, the General
Manager of ACPCU, said:
“Cafédirect has helped us so
much since they began buying
our coffee in 2001. They have
brought an attractive coffee price.
The premiums have helped our
communities to build many projects
... and we have been helped
to negotiate with our strategic
partners… so many things.”
In the hills of central Sri Lanka,
smallholder tea farmers who supply
green leaf to the local estate are
also making strides towards their
own Fairtrade certification. Since
2006, Cafédirect has helped three
groups of smallholder farmers
strengthen their organisational
skills, build a closer relationship
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with the local Fairtrade tea factory,
and improve their knowledge of
tea husbandry.
In June 2008, the three
smallholder associations became
a legally recognised community
organisation under Sri Lankan law.
With a total of 124 farmer members,
their next move is to become
Fairtrade certified and provide
services to their members, such as
buying fertiliser in bulk and building
a central tea leaf collection point.
A.M.N.K. Athapaththu, Chairman
of one of the three smallholder
societies, said “Cafédirect has
provided us with much appreciated
training. After applying the techniques
we learned, my tea yield from a half
acre tripled.”
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*Source: Barrientos, 2004.
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Any idea? Well, it’s an island nation off the west coast of Africa. Why should you care?
If you’re a fan of Cocodirect, you might be tasting its produce in the future.
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Cocoa grower Va
ncelar da Graca
from
the Castelo pro
ducer group
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“the presence of
cafédirect will
improve our
situation and
our production,
helping
smallholders to
earn more money”

RELATIONSHIPS

One of the biggest differences
between Cafédirect and other
companies is our commitment to
working with smallholder farmers
BEFORE we can actually trade with
them. We seek partners with high
quality coffee, tea, or cocoa for our
products, but also those who are in
need of support.
We began working with a group
of cocoa farmers in São Tomé in 2007.
The country is world renowned
for its centuries-old tradition of
growing and processing high quality
cocoa. Since the country gained
independence from Portugal in 1975,
São Tomé farmers have been selling
their cocoa beans to middlemen
who then sell them to larger
processing companies to be sold
in the world market.
Along with the government of
São Tomé, the International Fund
for Agricultural Development, and
local NGO’s, we have signed a
cooperation agreement to support

755 cocoa farmers to organise
their own export company, thus
securing more value from the
supply chain. This also means they
will now process the cocoa beans
themselves and sell them on
as higher-value fermented dry
cocoa to international buyers,
without the need for middlemen.
Further down the line, the
farmers hope to gain Fairtrade
certification, and at that point they
would be eligible to sell their cocoa
to Cafédirect. This is an example
of the truly unique, long-term
investment we offer our partners.
Cristino Cuaresma Pereira, a
local cocoa farmer, adds, “The
presence of Cafédirect will improve
our situation and our production,
helping smallholders to earn more
money, allowing us to produce at
a national and international level.
We will be able to rely on a fairer
market and this, for us, is the most
important thing. Additionally, our
crops will increase in value, since we
grow and process our own crops,
so we will have some more profit.”
Describing the process of
working with the São Tomé farmers,
PPP Manager Wolfgang Weinmann
notes, “Sitting in a packed, tinroofed community centre baking in
tropical heat with many smallholder
cocoa growers and their families,
discussing with them the exciting
outlook for working together and
envisioning a future that guarantees
them a fairer share of the value
of their product – that’s what
Cafédirect is all about.”

GROWERS

Where in the world is São Tomé and Príncipe?

GROWERS ARE THE HEART OF WHAT WE DO

Keeping it all together while the prices rise and fall
We’ve seen our fair share of high
prices in the UK this year. From petrol
to food to energy, we’ve had to adjust
our spending and saving habits.
Businesses have faced their own
challenges to survive amidst shrinking
credit and slimmer profit margins.
The farmers that we trade with operate businesses
themselves, and they face similar challenges – only
magnified, as they generally operate in more
unstable conditions.
Our grower partners earn their livelihoods in some of
the most volatile of markets. Have you been startled by
the ups and downs of the price of oil? Well, coffee ranks
just behind oil as the second most traded commodity
in the world and its market price fluctuates at a dizzying
pace*. For the coffee co-operatives, planning for and
managing this constant change is no easy task, and the
large multinationals they compete with spend huge
sums on expert advice and sophisticated financial
modelling to minimise their risk. As you can imagine,
the smallholder farmers we work with do not have the
benefit of such expensive tactics.
We address this need by giving smallholder farmers
knowledge and tools to better understand and manage
these market changes. For example, by accurately
predicting their costs, co-operatives can be sure to sell
their crop at prices which keep them from making a loss.
By knowing exactly how much coffee and cocoa they
have in stock, and when it will be ready to ship, they can
more accurately fulfil orders. Over the course of the year,
19 of our 25 coffee partners used these tools to improve
their performance during the export season.
Knowing how best to deal with fluctuating exchange
rates is yet another aspect of managing prices. Dealing
with two currencies on holiday can be confusing
enough, much less running an entire business that way.
The grower organisations we trade with purchase raw
coffee, tea, and cocoa from their member farmers in the
local currency (Mexican Pesos or Ugandan Shillings, for
example), and then they sell it to buyers like Cafédirect

Dronicio Arcangel, a cocoa farmer from
CONACADO in the Dominian Republic
in US Dollars. This adds a layer of complexity that must
be well managed.
We maintain communication with partners
throughout the harvest, sending out market alerts and
information on a regular basis. We also offer advice
on pricing strategies and hold price management
workshops. This support benefits the grower
organisations in their dealings with both Cafédirect
and other buyers. It’s part of our unique business
model, which goes far beyond the traditional supplierbuyer relationship.
“Previously I used to fix the price of sales contracts
when prices were high without having the coffee in stock
and knowing its cost,” Javier Dominguez, Commercial
Manager at Cepicafe in Peru, said. “However, now I
know my stock position and its cost so it is much easier
to fix the price knowing that I am not taking a risk.”
* See fold-out timeline inside the front cover
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Strengthening grower involvement in our business
Cafédirect Producers Limited (CPL) is a producer co-operative which holds
shares in Cafédirect plc on behalf of member producer organisations.

2
Discussions focused on four major
strategic topics:
1 How to further the role of CPL
in the company’s operations
2 The future role of the Producer
Partnership Programme (PPP)
for grower organisations

The outcome of these events
was the development of the
2008-2011 CPL Strategy, which
aims to strengthen and enhance
the partnership between producer
organisations and Cafédirect.

3
QUALITY

3 Improving communication
between growers and
Cafédirect

BUSINESS

With the aim of giving growers
increased influence in our
governance, CPL held successful
stakeholder events this year in
Kampala, Uganda and Minneapolis,
Minnesota. With representation
from 72% of our current 39 grower
partners, these events provided an
opportunity to establish a shared
understanding of how to improve
the impact of Cafédirect’s mission
and business model.

4 Strengthening the partnership
element in our business model

4
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the FUTURE:
By our standards, CPL has had a limited role to date –
holding the producers’ shares, voting at the AGM, and
nominating producer directors to the Cafédirect Board.
While many would see this degree of stakeholder
participation as higher than in most companies, we aim
to significantly increase the role and responsibilities of
CPL to enable a deeper level of producer empowerment.

Maria Guzman Giron, a coffee grower from
the Kulaktik primary society of our partner
Union Majomut in Chiapas, Mexico. She is
sitting with the machine she uses to de-pulp
coffee cherries.
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We strive to inspire change and redefine successful business practice.
This means we consciously choose who we work with, seeking out
partnerships with organisations, suppliers, and individuals with
like-minded values and aspirations. As a publicly listed company,
we want to deliver financial returns to our shareholders, in balance
with strong social returns. We treat all our customers and suppliers
with respect, and as we do with our grower partners, we care for the
livelihoods of our employees here in the UK. We commit ourselves
to ongoing personal development and learning for all staff.

5
a dividend for shareholders and we
are once again offering a donation
option to provide further investment
into grower organisations. This year we
sought out supply chain partners who
share our ethos, and invested in our
employees by offering unique travel
and learning opportunities, including
Spanish lessons.

6
ACCOUNTABILITY

We focus the financial impact of our
business model on our grower partners
through the prices and premiums we
pay and the profits we invest into our
Producer Partnership Programme (PPP).
This year we upheld these priorities
despite the challenging commercial
environment and a series of unexpected
obstacles. Our Board has recommended

RELATIONSHIPS

2007/08: Review

A PIONEERING AND INSPIRATIONAL BUSINESS

Financial summary
Cafédirect’s turnover in 2008 was £22,343,000, marginally higher than the
£22,333,000 achieved in 2007.
As in previous years, the out-of-home sector grew
strongly, 21% year-on-year, to £5.6 million. Trading
conditions in other UK sectors continued to be
challenging and revenues fell by 5% year-on-year
to £16.2 million. International sales also fell slightly,
to £0.5m, due to our decision to focus on our core
UK markets.
Gross profit grew slightly year-on-year, with the
margin improving from 32% to 33% of turnover.
Supply chain initiatives were an important element
of this improvement, with raw materials and finished
products transported more directly and efficiently.
The weakness of the US dollar, the currency in which
coffee, tea, and cocoa purchases are denominated,
also helped to sustain the margin although, in US dollar
terms, the average price paid to producers for coffee
and tea increased year-on-year by around 15% and
by over 40% for cocoa.
As a result, profit before tax increased from
£705,000 in 2007 to £901,000 in 2008. Our net cash
balance also improved significantly during the year,
from £3.1 million at 30 September 2007 to £4.2 million
at 30 September 2008. This performance was driven
by profitability and a reduction in working capital.
Looking forward, we will continue to focus on
our core UK markets, with conditions increasingly
challenging and price competitive due to the poor
economic environment and stronger competition.
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We will overcome these challenges through brand
development, improving direct links with grower
partners and customers, and continuing to improve
operational efficiency.
As well as a financial return, we look to generate
a strong social return. In 2008, including Fairtrade
premiums, Cafédirect paid £886,000 (2007: £971,000)
above the market price for its coffee, tea, and cocoa
raw materials. These premiums paid to grower partners
were slightly higher in 2007 due to our policy of
providing more support to grower partners when
the market price is low.
We also invested £658,000 in our Producer
Partnership Programme (PPP) during 2008. This
represents an increase of nearly 9% over 2007.
In addition, a further £707,000 was raised during the
year without additional cost to the company by our
PPP implementation partners, Twin and Imani, as well
as through Cafédirect’s own fund-raising efforts.
These funds were raised on a 50:50 matching basis
with Cafédirect’s PPP spend. The total benefit of
£1,365,000 for our grower partners in 2008 represents
an increase of 5% over 2007.
Over the last five years, Cafédirect has invested
more than £3 million into the businesses of its grower
partners. This represents more than half of the company’s
profits (before PPP) over the same period.

1
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CAFÉDIRECT has invested more
than half its profits in PPP programmes over 2004-2008

CAFÉDIRECT has paid more than
£10.5 million in premiums and
the PPP over 2004-2008
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A PIONEERING AND INSPIRATIONAL BUSINESS

Newness within
There is a Buddhist saying
with which you may be
familiar: “Change comes
from within.” That was
certainly true for us during
2007/08.

We also conducted a companywide survey to gauge employee
satisfaction and highlight issues
needing attention. We are proud
that 74% rated their overall work
experience as ‘good’ or ‘excellent’.
Staff also flagged three key areas of
concern: communication between
departments, clarity of personal
objectives, and a distracting work
environment (i.e. a continual building
site). We began addressing the
first two issues by drafting a new

company mission statement,
holding two company-wide
workshops to facilitate better
communication, and implementing
a 5-year strategy to better focus
our efforts. We also implemented a
revised performance management
system to ensure clear objectives
for all employees. To address the
third we moved offices! We view
these as long-term issues and have
committed to repeat the survey
within two years.

As we promised last year,
an important focus for us
this year was solidifying our
core business. Accordingly,
we launched two new
products – an improved
instant coffee, and a
premium quality tea.

Our new and improved Classic Blend

The shiny gold box for our brand new tea

Focusing on innovation, we
improved the taste and quality of
our Classic Blend premium freeze
dried instant coffee and re-launched
it in June 2008. Roasting the beans
for longer gives the new brew a
smoother, full-bodied flavour with
hints of nutty caramel sweetness.
The re-launch was accompanied
by our “Fair Is …” campaign,
comprised of national press
advertisements (including The Times,
The Guardian, The Independent,
The Daily Mail, The Sun, and
Delicious and Sainsbury’s Magazines),

outdoor posters at 155 Tesco stores,
digital advertising on the Tesco
website, and in-store promotions.
As well as the “Fair Is…”
campaign, we also ran an on-pack
promotion informing consumers
of the quality improvement and
giving them the opportunity to claim
a refund if they were not entirely
satisfied with the new taste.
In February 2008 we launched our
very own Fairtrade Gold Tea, the first
ever available in the major retailers.
The tea is an exquisite blend sourced
from three of our partners: Sorwathe

in Rwanda and Chamong in India
(both new partners as of this year)
and Michimikuru in Kenya.
In September it was awarded a
double Gold Star in the Guild of
Fine Foods’ Great Taste Awards.
Beginning as an exclusive offer
in Waitrose stores, Gold Tea is now
available in a wider selection of
retailers. The launch was supported
with an email sent to our network
of supporters, as well as sampling,
both in-store and at the Hay Festival
in Hay-on-Wye. Please ask for it in
all the stores you visit.

A large number of new faces
joined the team this year, a
combination of both staff turnover
and new hires to support our
focus on the core UK market.

New products
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1

It would be difficult to find anyone unaffected by the
turmoil in the global economy during the past year.

From the high of US $1.75/lb in March to its low at
under US $1.10/lb in November, the market price for
coffee was a speculation-fuelled roller coaster
ride over the past 12 months.

4

5
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The disputed elections in Kenya in December 2007
posed one of the biggest challenges to our business
this year. With the post-election violence, transport
routes for our East African tea partners were
severely disrupted and the result has been ongoing
congestion in the local ports.
Other unexpected events included the
temporary suspension of three of our partners by
the Fairtrade Labelling Organisations (FLO). As a
100% Fairtrade company, we do not trade with any
organisation under suspension. Unlike conventional
buyers, however, we offered vital, decisive support
to these organisations, and we are happy to report
that all three have successfully been reinstated after
correcting the issues.
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From the high of US $1.75/lb in March to its low at
under US $1.10/lb in November, the market price for
coffee was a speculation-fuelled roller coaster ride
over the past 12 months. Cafédirect operates a policy
of allowing grower organisations a window of time
to set the price for their coffee and cocoa. This gives
the growers more control and reduces their risk, but it
also makes our own financial planning more complex,
especially in the current economic climate. Beyond
the increasing price of raw materials, higher fuel prices
and the devaluation of sterling against the euro were
also key challenges.
One of the ways we balance these price risks
is by continually working to make our supply chain
more efficient through simplifying the transport and
processing of our products. Perhaps the biggest
change to our supply chain has been moving our

2

QUALITY

Roast and Ground coffee processing to Bewley’s in
Ireland. This has allowed us to work with a company
which shares our commitment to ethical trade and
environmental issues, as they recently became Ireland’s
first certified carbon neutral coffee company.
The improvements implemented this year
resulted in substantial savings as well as a reduction
of our carbon footprint. Reducing our cost of sales
through increased efficiencies allows us to limit
the amount of cost increases we have to pass on
to our customers.

BUSINESS

Growers faced higher costs for fuel, food, and
fertiliser, increases which many of us in the UK also felt.
As tough as it was here, where we spend an average
of 10% of our income on food, you can imagine what
it was like for many of our grower partners, who can
spend up to 60% of their income on food.
As the graph inside the front cover indicates,
this year brought with it huge volatility in the raw
material prices of coffee, tea, and cocoa, as well
as some unexpected world events which directly
impacted our business.

GROWERS

A Supply Chain year-in-review

A PIONEERING AND INSPIRATIONAL BUSINESS

Seeing is believing
A large part of achieving our mission involves forging direct
relationships with our grower partners and building awareness
of their realities with consumers in the UK.
Trips by Cafédirect employees, partners, and Board
Members to visit the coffee, tea, and cocoa farmers
we work with are crucial in making sure we fully
understand the role Cafédirect plays in changing lives
and building communities.
All our grower partners are visited at least once
per year, either by staff or by our implementation
partners, and this year 11 visits were made by staff to
the Dominican Republic, Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru,
Uganda, Rwanda, Tanzania, São Tomé & Príncipe, and
Sri Lanka. These trips covered 51% of our partners, and
for employees, the result is a significant boost in their
understanding of both Cafédirect’s business model and
their individual role within it.
Stephen Marriott, a Food Service account manager,
has been with us more than two years. This year he went
to Peru, where he visited Machu Picchu and the farmers
who grow the coffee he sells. It was Stephen’s first trip
abroad with Cafédirect.
“The ten day trip I took to Peru in July opened my
eyes to the extreme differences in wealth in developing
countries. Although I was aware of issues through my
work, it was not until I saw the differences first-hand
that I was able to fully appreciate the challenges facing

“the ten day trip to peru
opened my eyes”

Stephen Marriott,
Foodservice Account Manager,
in the Peruvian highlands
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smallholder farmers,”
Stephen said.
“Although some of them
have clean water, reasonable
health and food supplies,
and a basic education
system, the struggling
PPP Liaison Offi
cer
economy results in very
inspects the tea Montse Pejuan
crop of A.M.N.K
Athapaththu
in Sri Lanka
few jobs and trade
opportunities and an unfair
distribution of wealth.
Cafédirect opens financial, career, and life opportunities
which otherwise would not be available. The gratitude
and hospitality of the farmers and workers I met during
my trip has humbled me and left me with a firmer belief
in what Cafédirect is trying to achieve.”
In July, PPP Liaison Officer Montse Pejuan visited
our tea partners at Kelliewatte, Sri Lanka. The purpose
of the trip was to strengthen Cafédirect’s relationship
with the smallholder tea farmers and the Fairtrade
factory that buys their produce.
In Montse’s words, “I was struck by the hospitality
and welcome I received. I was offered tea at every
house I visited and meeting the smallholders was a truly
uplifting experience. Despite challenges like a lack of
working capital and volatile tea prices, they are diligent
and business-minded farmers. The PPP has brought
energy into these communities as much through a spirit
of partnership as through its technical assistance.”

1
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Our digital evolution
Have you visited our website recently?
If so, you may have noticed some changes.
We’ve also been busy filming.
We visited the Dominican Republic
to see first-hand the reconstruction
efforts following last year’s
hurricanes, and put together films
on climate change and our direct
relationships with our grower

partners. We’ve also developed
a unique Cafédirect ‘YouTube’
channel, and are soon to debut
some exciting new technology on
our website that allows you to share
your own videos and photos.

4
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THE FUTURE:
In the coming year, we will continue to focus on our core business
in the UK. Plans to bolster retail sales include new packaging and a
new communications approach which highlights in a fresh way our
partnerships with growers, the impacts of our business model, and the
award-winning quality of our products. We will also continue to grow
our out-of-home sector, meaning our capacity to supply venues such as
universities, hospitals, and sports arenas. This sector has been at the
core of our recent growth, and this year is the first phase of a five-year
plan to greatly strengthen our out-of-home team and offering.

3
QUALITY

www.cafedirect.co.uk

2
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There are now dedicated pages on
each of the grower organisations we
work with, as well as a new section
on ‘Cafédirect and the Environment’.
One of our biggest environmental
projects has been AdapCC, which
you can read more about later in
this report. It focuses on creating
regionally specific strategies and
funding opportunities to help
farmers adapt to climate change.
There are also new video and photo
galleries. Keep checking, as the
website will continue to evolve and
will play an increasing role in our
communications.

Our award-winning Mt Elgon
wholebean coffee, recipient
of three Gold Stars at this
year ’s Great Taste Awards.
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Fairtrade or otherwise. We also
re-launched our Classic Instant
blend with a money back
guarantee for consumers.

6
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This year eight Cafédirect products
won Gold Stars at the Guild of Fine
Food’s Great Taste Awards, more
than any other hot drinks company,

5
RELATIONSHIPS

We provide a quality guarantee for our consumers and set a
benchmark in the marketplace for excellent quality products.
We hold ourselves to the highest standards at each point in
the supply chain, from grower to consumer.

GUARANTEED QUALITY

Bringing home the gold
Great products speak for themselves. This was a landmark year in that respect,
with products across our range raking in awards. For producers, recognition of
their high quality products means a stronger market presence, increasing sales,
and more revenue for their businesses.
The jewel in this crown of achievements was our
performance at the Guild of Fine Food’s Great Taste
Awards. We jumped from having one
winner last year to topping the hot
beverage category with eight
this year.
Our Organic Mount Elgon
Gourmet coffee beans scooped the
coveted prize of three Gold Stars,
showing that the expert judges
considered our single-origin Ugandan
beans from the Gumutindo Co-operative
to be faultless. Just 72 out of the 4753 entries this year
were awarded three gold stars.
“This prestigious award is a culmination of years
of collaboration between Gumutindo and Cafédirect in
farmer education, along with Fairtrade incentives,” said

Nimrod Wambette, Chairman of Gumutindo Co-operative.
Cafédirect’s single-origin Cloud Forest gourmet coffee
beans received two Gold Stars and the following coffees
and teas each won one Gold Star: our newly launched
Teadirect Gold tea, three of our Roast and Ground coffees
(Organic Palenque, Kilimanjaro, and Organic Machu
Picchu), and our Organic Medium Roast and Organic
Decaffeinated premium freeze dried instant coffees.
Adding more sparkle to the crown this year was a
host of accolades given to our Machu Picchu beans and
fresh Roast and Ground coffee. They brought home two
Organic Food Awards from the Soil Association and the
Roast and Ground version was voted ‘Best Fairtrade
Coffee’ on Smartplanet.com. Teadirect also won ‘Top
Trumps’ in New Consumer Magazine’s round-up of ethical
teas, beating out the likes of Clipper, M&S, and Peace Tea.

THE FUTURE:
Next year we will be conducting in-depth research to understand
better the taste profiles of our products. This will further focus our
efforts to guarantee and continually improve our product quality.
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Matt Horsborough of Twin and
Cafédirect’s Stephen Marriott
tasting coffee in the cupping lab
at COCLA in Peru
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Sunset in the skies over the
Dominican Republic, home to
our coffee partner FEDECARES
and our cocoa partner CONACADO
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further work that we have to do
along other parts of our supply
chain and we have committed to
making this a key focus over the
next five years.

6
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This year we made progress in our
work to address energy use and
deforestation with tea growers, as
well as advancing our pioneering
project to help farmers adapt to
climate change. We recognise the

5
RELATIONSHIPS

2007/08: Review

ENVIRONMENT

We aim to manage environmental impacts across our entire supply
chain - from grower to consumer – taking full responsibility where we
have control and working in collaboration with our partners where we
have influence. We will continually improve our day-to-day operational
practice and our ongoing reporting procedures. We see the intrinsic
relationship between grower livelihoods and environmental issues
and seek to address them in our work.

STEWARDS OF THE ENVIRONMENT

Investing in planet protection
Over a quarter of this year’s Producer Partnership Programme funds
were spent on environmental initiatives, with impressive results.
A sign welcomes participants to the AdapCC
workshop at Michimikuru in Kenya

Strategies to mitigate environmental degradation
caused by tea production are in place with six of our
tea partners, with more to come in 2008/09. Based on
successful energy audits done in Kenya last year, our
Tanzanian partners, RSTGA and Kibena, have expressed
an interest in undertaking them as well. Reforestation
projects continue at Kiegoi and Michimikuru in Kenya,
and at RSTGA in Tanzania.
Our most impressive achievement, however, has
been the continued success of AdapCC, our pioneering
project with the German Technical Cooperation
(GTZ). Last year increasing global attention was
given to helping vulnerable populations adapt to
climate change. A topic at the G8 meeting in Japan,
adaptation has been recognised by many, including the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change and Sir
David King, former Chief Scientific Advisor to the UK
Government, as an area needing urgent funding.
Cafédirect’s grower partners in Latin America,
Africa, and Asia have all echoed this call for support.
Coping with the effects of their changing climate is
now, and will for the foreseeable future be, a prime
obstacle to creating sustainable livelihoods.
AdapCC has just completed its second year.
Building on the initial research phase, we conducted
in-depth risk and vulnerability analyses with four of our
grower partners: CEPICAFE in Peru, PRODECOOP in
Nicaragua, Más Café in Mexico, and Michimikuru in
Kenya. Bringing coffee and tea farmers together with
local government and scientific experts, the sessions
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confirmed the challenges farmers face from climate
change and identified adaptation measures to help
them cope with changing conditions. From capacity
building and education to reforestation and erosion
prevention, these actions will play a key role in helping
farmers maintain their land and their livelihoods.
Santos Lizana Yajahuanca, a coffee grower from
CEPICAFE in Peru, welcomed the project. “What we
need is to know how to face the pests, the diseases,
and the changes in climate,” she said. “Together we
need to develop adaptation strategies that will allow
us to deal with these problems. I hope this project
will serve us well. It’s going to advance our knowledge
and is not just going to serve me, but the future of
our children and our grandchildren to come.”
Marco Antonio Ganosa, from the Natural Resources
and Environmental Management Division of Piura,
Peru added “I think Cafédirect has
taken an important step
in this new process of
globalisation, where
companies should be
more connected with
the producers and should
be more involved in
improving the quality of the
products to make sure the
market is truly sustainable.”

To find out more, visit
www.adapcc.org
A joint project from

nga Baariu
Tea farmer Augstino Gito
himikuru workshop
at the Mic
’
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Heavy rains led to flooding and
landslides in the coffee growing
regions of Peru this year

GROWERS

THE FUTURE:
With risk and vulnerability analyses of the pilot groups
complete, AdapCC is entering its third and final phase.
Its specific focus is securing sustainable funding sources
to ensure that growers can put into action the suggested
adaptation strategies to cope with the changing climate.
Over time, we aim to replicate AdapCC’s success with other
coffee, tea, and cocoa partners. Beyond our work with
grower partners, we will begin implementing a five-year
environmental strategy, which includes creating a dedicated
Environmental Team with a mandate to enact environmental
initiatives across the company.
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Cafedirect shareholders
at the 2008 AGM
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audience. We also supported
the work of the wider Fairtrade
movement, which reached
key milestones in London and
Wales. Finally, while we made
11 trips abroad, and 13 grower
representatives visited us in
London, we also achieved 72%
direct participation by our partners
at two stakeholder events held in
Africa and the U.S.A.

RELATIONSHIPS

Cafédirect brings the realities faced
by our grower partners to the
attention of the public at a variety
of events and festivals each year.
This year we had a presence at
several Fairtrade Fortnight events,
as well as the Hay and Thames
Festivals. We ran a direct mail
campaign which resulted in a
record 16% redemption rate, and
a national poster campaign which
reached 29% of our target

4
ENVIRONMENT

We recognise our unique role in linking growers in the developing
world with our partners and consumers in the UK and beyond.
Our business model encourages two-way information flow and
mutual awareness of grower and consumer realities. We strive to
do this respectfully and transparently in all our actions.

BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS & AWARENESS

Cafédirect out and about
Fairtrade Fortnight
As always, the year is full of
opportunities to get out and
engage with people around the
country about our company,
our products, and our mission.
The headline event this year was
Fairtrade Fortnight, which kicked
off with a Fairtrade Fairground at
Southbank on the Thames, where
nearly 8000 visitors browsed the
numerous stalls. Of the thousands
of events held around the country,
more than 500 were organised by
Friends of Cafédirect, who used our
campaign kits to host talks, coffee
mornings, and school sessions.
We were also privileged to
host three Kenyan tea farmers who
helped us talk about our work. Julius
Ethang’atha, who is also an inspired
environmental campaigner, spoke at

the head offices of both Waitrose and
John Lewis. He was so well received
they’ve invited him back.
Jennifer Kirema, a farmer and
health worker from our tea partner
at Michimikuru, visited Ireland on her
first ever trip outside of Kenya, and
made quite an impact. She did radio
interviews on RTE Radio, Q102’s
evening drive time show, Spin 103.8’s
lunchtime talk show, and FM104’s
Beetle Bugs, as well as getting an
interview and profile slot in the
Sunday Business Post.
Back in England, Michimikuru’s
Director and Premium Committee
Chairman Andrew Ethuru joined
us despite losing his mother in a
horrific fire just days before. He felt
compelled to continue on because
of the importance of our relationship

to his community, and we were truly
honoured by his commitment. Andrew
was featured on The Guardian’s
podcast, moved people to tears at the
Land Trillium conference, and spoke
at a handful of other events, including
the John Lewis tea tasting on Oxford
Street and the Woking Fairtrade
Breakfast.

Andrew Kobia Ethuru outside
The Guardian offices

hay festival
Once again we ventured into the foothills of Wales
to sponsor and take part in the Hay Literary Festival
in Hay-on-Wye, which this year featured authors
including John Irving, Gore Vidal, Salman Rushdie,
and Will Self. The week-long festival was the wettest
yet, but the weather didn’t stem the nearly 160,000
visitors who attended the various events. We passed
out 35,000 samples, as well as handing out coupons
for products, Annual Reports, and information about
our environmental work. We also supplied Cafédirect
goody bags to the 700 artists involved, and supplied
the coffee and tea for the festival’s Green Room.
Festival-goers en

joying Cafédire

ct

e hamper
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Fairtrade Fortnight wasn’t the
only time we took to the banks of
the Thames. In September, London
prepared to take its place as the largest
Fairtrade city in the world with a Fairtrade
village at the Mayor’s Thames Festival.
Nearly a million people enjoyed music,
food, and performances along the river.
Our presence at the festival was part of
our continued pursuit to raise awareness
about what we do, which this year also
included appearances at the Prince’s
Trust May Day Conference (focusing
on climate change), The Guardian’s
Climate Change Summit, and the
British Chamber of Commerce’s Annual
Conference in Liverpool.

speeches
ethical trade were significant, Anne
and Willington gave a well-received
presentation on how Cafédirect and
Gumutindo have proven the
positive impacts of ethical trade.

4

5

Willington Wamayeye, Gumutindo’s
General Manager, tells his story in
Switzerland
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6
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Impact’s inaugural European
Conference in Geneva,
Switzerland. The conference title
was ‘Prosperity: Taking on the
Global Challenge’, and Zachary
participated in a panel discussion on
how companies measure and rate
their sustainability performance.
“Net Impact is an international
organisation of business leaders
dedicated to using the power of
business to make the world a better
place, and there was great interest
from delegates in Cafédirect and our
pioneering ways,” Zachary said.
Cafédirect CEO Anne MacCaig
and Gumutindo General Manager
Willington Wamayeye capped off
the year with a panel discussion
at the World Economic
Development Forum’s, ‘Consumer
Conscience: How Environment and
Ethics are Influencing Exports.’
Asked whether the benefits of

ENVIRONMENT

In October
2007 PPP
Manager
Wolfgang
Weinmann
participated
in the 12th
International
Business
Forum in
Washington, D.C. Under the banner
of ‘Business and the Millennium
Development Goals’, Wolfgang was
one of two panellists to discuss
adaptation strategies to climate
change. Focusing on his experience
with AdapCC, Wolfgang highlighted
the impacts of climate change on
agricultural production, and the value
of public-private partnerships in
addressing these impacts.
In June 2008, Zachary
Dominitz, Cafedirect’s Head of
Corporate Affairs, spoke at Net

BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS & AWARENESS

The Fairtrade movement in London and beyond
The UK Fairtrade movement achieved some notable landmarks in the past year.
They involved a “first” and a “biggest”. Can you guess what?
Wales was crowned the first-ever
Fairtrade nation. The distinction
was bestowed after a two-year
campaign by activists and the
Wales Fair Trade Forum, with
the support of the assembly
government, to meet a set of
independently verified targets.
The targets included establishing
Fairtrade groups in 55% of Welsh
towns and ensuring that every
Welsh county was working toward
Fairtrade status. As a result, there
are now over 400 Fairtrade schools
in Wales, more than the rest of
the UK combined! The assembly

government has also committed
to using Fairtrade goods. We
congratulate all those who have
given their time, energy, and
resources to support Fairtrade
in Wales.
Accolades are also due London
for becoming the world’s largest
Fairtrade city. Since 2003, a coalition
of representatives from borough
councils, the Greater London
Authority, Fairtrade retailers, local
businesses, and non-governmental
organisations have led a campaign
to help London achieve Fairtrade
status. Cafédirect was a member

of the London Fairtrade Steering
Group and supported the campaign
alongside other organisations such as
Divine Chocolate, The Co-operative
Group, and Oxfam.
Mayor of London Boris Johnson
said, “We have come a long way
since Croydon became the first
borough to achieve Fairtrade status
in 2003 and the London Steering
Group and Fairtrade Boroughs are to
be congratulated for their hard work
in achieving our new status.”

Media coverage
The world of communications is changing faster than ever,
but mainstream media channels still have tremendous reach.
Coverage in newspapers,
magazines, and other print
channels is one of the best tools
we have to get our message out,
and this year our biggest impact
came during the UN Climate
Change Conference in Bali.
The changing climate is already
having a powerful effect on our
grower partners – our Ugandan
coffee partner Gumutindo, for
instance, reported a decrease in
productivity this year by 50% due
to climate change! The warning
we put out about climate change
threatening your daily cuppa

was picked up by various daily
newspapers and resulted in a feature
piece entitled ‘A Storm in a Teacup’
in Fresh magazine.
We generated additional media
coverage throughout the year,
with stories, quotes, and mentions
in consumer magazines such as
New Consumer, Ethical Consumer,
and Eve, as well as trade publications
like Cross Sector Catering and
The Grocer. We even made news
in Ireland and Malaysia, not to
mention coverage on UK radio and
television programmes.
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FML Public Relations
Tel: 01273 834716
Fax: 01273 834306

Title: Fresh
Date: November 08
Circulation: 24,012

FML Publ
ic Relations
Tel: 0127
3 834716
Fax: 0127
3 834306

Cafédirect’s coverage in Fresh and
BBC Good Food in November 2008

Title: BBC
Good Food
Date: June
Magazine
2008
Circ. 338,
395
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IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS FRIENDS OF CAFÉDIRECT HAS GROWN
FROM 3,188 TO 14,714, A FOUR-FOLD INCREASE !
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THE FUTURE:
We are committed to improving how we engage with all our
stakeholders, including shareholders, schools, and consumers.
As a company that strives to do business differently, we recognise
that we can and should do much more to involve, inspire, and engage
with our supporters. For example, we are currently developing a
strategy to enable more two-way communication with Friends of
Cafédirect. This journey will involve new and exciting tools for
digital communication and we will need all the support we can get.
If you are not a Friend already, please visit our website to join.

Fabric from a woven purse made in the coffee
growing state of Chiapas, Mexico
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and began reviewing our financial,
social, and environmental impacts
with a view to improving how we
track, analyse, and increase them.

6
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This year we greatly expanded
the information available on our
website. We also conducted a
multi-stakeholder self-assessment

5
RELATIONSHIPS

2007/08: Review

ENVIRONMENT

As a public company owned by our grower partners, customers,
consumers, and founding organisations (Oxfam, Twin Trading,
Equal Exchange, and Traidcraft), we strive to give all shareholders
direct input. We will measure our progress against our commitments
and will consult stakeholders to supplement our
own internal measurements.

A TRULY ACCOUNTABLE COMPANY

Measuring our impact
As a social enterprise, Cafédirect exemplifies how a profitable company can have
a positive impact on the lives of marginalised farmers. While our financial results are
regulated by UK law and checked by external auditors, our broader economic, social,
and environmental impacts are not subject to such scrutiny. We believe that there
is equal, if not greater, value in analysing these aspects of our business to better
understand, and thus improve, what we’re doing. This is a long-term commitment
and, though we are just beginning, this year we’ve taken several big steps forward.
OUR EFFORTS AT HOME...
In 2007 we successfully
applied to become part
of Social Enterprise
London’s (SEL) ‘Winning
with 2012’ campaign.
Project partnerships
Funded by the Office
of the Third Sector, the
project aims to “maximise
the involvement of
social enterprises
across England in the
development, delivery, and legacy of the 2012
Olympic and Paralympic Games”. As one of only
two London companies selected, we benefit from a
three-year partnership with SEL to help us measure
our social impact.
Funded by

Cafédirect’s Impact and Information Officer, Whitney
Kakos, received one-on-one guidance from SEL staff
to identify and measure the social impact of the
business. “This has provided us with a model to use
in identifying which impacts we want to analyse and a
process for deciding how to measure them,” Whitney
said. “While measuring social impact is no easy task,
it is absolutely worth the effort to better understand
the effects of our work.”
Ideally, this work will pay off when the 2012 games
begin seeking food and drink suppliers for the athletes,
employees, and visitors. “With London now a Fairtrade
city, we have high hopes that the games themselves
will take on the values that we, and the wider Fairtrade
movement, have long championed as the right way to
do business,” Whitney added.

IN THE WIDER MOVEMENT...
The issue of impact assessment is salient in the wider
Fairtrade movement as well. If the movement is to
continue growing, businesses and consumers need
proof that Fairtrade truly does make a difference.
To address this situation, the Fairtrade Labelling
Organisations (FLO) sponsored a two-day workshop
on impact assessment in Lima, Peru this summer.
With delegates from farmer co-operatives, businesses,
and national Fairtrade organisations, the group
discussed the need for better information gathering,
analysis, and sharing among those dedicated to
Fairtrade. Cafédirect’s Whitney Kakos attended,
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sharing the perspective of a business operating in the
competitive ethical hot drinks sector in the UK.
“It was fascinating to share our needs with farmers,
who might have very little exposure to the dynamics of
the market in which their products are sold,” Whitney
said. “They, in turn shared their thoughts on what
information is easy to obtain and highlighted the fact
that information gathering can be an additional burden
when they have more important things to think about
like harvesting their crops and sending their children
to school.”

1
stated “...all participants assessed Cafédirect’s
performance as fully committed and in compliance
with International Fair Trade Association (IFAT) standards.
The company – as a public entity – goes beyond the
legal requirements and issues comprehensive reports
and applies a participatory stakeholder approach in
its business practices.”

A CASE STUDY...

• 37 primary and secondary schools, three school
laboratories, one nursery unit and day care centre,
and the provision of scholarships for students
• Four health clinics and one maternity ward
• 10 safe water sources for domestic and
agricultural use

3

• Access roads and bridges around the factory
In the words of James Mubea (left), Kiegoi’s Factory
Manager, “Cafédirect are a step ahead of other
Fairtrade buyers because of their Producer Partnership
Programme, social programmes, and sustainability
pricing. We are real partners. I wish everyone traded
the way Cafédirect does.”

5
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6
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Over the next five years, we will take steps to understand better
the financial, social, and environmental impact across our business.
This year’s report is the first step in a long process to track our progress,
set targets, and report more comprehensively and transparently.
For example, in the coming year, our PPP will undergo an independent
assessment including interviews with producer partners, implementation
partners, and Cafédirect staff. Watch this space!

4
ENVIRONMENT

THE FUTURE:

Between 2003 and 2008, Fairtrade premium payments
to Kiegoi have benefitted more than 10,000 people
through the construction of:

QUALITY

Another way to know if you’re
doing a good job is to ask
somebody else. This is one
approach we’ve taken to learn
more about the impact of our
business model. This year we
commissioned an independent
report on the impact of both
Fairtrade and Cafédirect’s
trading models on the Kiegoi
tea factory and the surrounding community in Kenya.
The results were inspiring.
As a Cafédirect partner, Kiegoi benefits from tailored
support, which helped the factory earn both HACCP
(Hazard Analysis Critical Control Points) and ISO22000
certification, achievements which give them access to
wider markets. It also included an energy audit and
a feasibility study into hydroelectric power, as well as
training in areas such as compliance with Fairtrade
standards and networking with other tea producers.

2
BUSINESS

In December 2007, we undertook a comprehensive
self-assessment of our general performance engaging
stakeholders along our supply chain, including
grower partners, manufacturers, founders, customers
(the retailers that sell our products) and consumers.
The group considered issues such as Cafédirect’s
transparency and accountability, and the final report

GROWERS

INVOLVING STAKEHOLDERS...

The year ahead
promises to be one of
invigorating change
We’ve refreshed our mission statement and our logo, and we are in
the process of developing new packaging to highlight our unique
partnership with producers, which will be in stores by summer.
We’re developing new products and product sizes.
In January 2009, we moved offices – it’s not far, but for anyone who
has come to visit in the last few years, you will be relieved to know
that no longer will the sounds of drilling and construction hamper
your conversation.
In the meantime, there are plenty of ways to get involved. If you’re not
a member already, consider joining Friends of Cafédirect through the
website. Get a chance to meet farmers, find out more about our work,
and help spread the message through organising events of your own
(with our help of course).
You can also check out our expanding website, which includes an online
gallery of our latest films, as well as information on the growers who
are behind your favourite coffee, tea, and cocoa. Please send us any
of your ideas!
Cafédirect would like to thank our consumers, grower partners,
employees, shareholders, and implementation partners for their
support during the year. Thanks also to all those who contributed
to this report, particulary the crew at This Way Up design.
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November
2007

December
2007

*Because tea is sold at national auctions, we have chosen one of our
tea partners, Kayonza in Uganda, as a representative market price for tea.

January
2008

Kenyan elections
VOTE

Tropical Storm Noel
hits the Dominican
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1.02

0.95
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1.13

1.09

6

1.00

0.80

Arabica coffee ($/lb)
Robusta coffee ($/lb)
Kayonza tea* ($/lb)

1.6

1.60

1.40

Our global network
of grower partners

Market prices (coffee) and auction prices (tea)

1.70

February
2008

March
2008

Sorwathe and Chamong
tea organisations
become new partners

Fairtrade Fortnight
in London

April
2008

May
2008

Cafédirect’s new tea
pricing takes effect
Cafédirect’s Annual
General Meeting
held in London

the Last year
in summary...

June
2008

August
2008
Great taste awards
announced

FT minimum
coffee price
changes enacted
Cocoa market prices
peak at $3,275 USD/tonne
up from $1,993 USD/tonne
in Oct 2007

Anne MacCaig
begins as CEO
Launch of
improved
Classic Blend
Launch of
Gold Tea

July
2008

Sept
2008
Hurricanes Hanna and Ike
hit Haiti (RECOCARNO)

London becomes
world’s largest
Fairtrade city

MEXICO

Nicaragua

COSTA RICA

PERU

HAITI

DOM REPUBLIC CAMEROON

UGANDA

RWANDA

TANZANIA

KENYA

SRI LANKA

INDIA

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

Grower partner
organisations:

> CESMACH
> HUATUSCO
> MÁS CAFÉ
> UNION DE EJIDOS
SAN FERNANDO
> UNION MAJOMOT

> PRODECOOP
> CECOCAFEN

> COOCAFÉ

> RECOCARNO

> CONACADO
> FEDECARES

> MACEFCOOP

> KELLIEWATTE

> CHAMONG

DID YOU KNOW?

DID YOU KNOW?

DID YOU KNOW?

>M
 ore than 100 kids
have benefited from
Fairtrade premium
funded school fees,
and the co-operative
only has a total of
820 farmers.

> KCU
> KDCU
> Kibena
> KNCU
> RSTGA

> EASTERN PRODUCE
> KIEGOI
> MICHIMIKURU

> Coocafe is one of
the three original
co-operatives
that helped found
Cafédirect.

> ACPCU
> Gumutindo
> Igara
> Kayonza
> Mabale
> Mpanga

> Misozi
> Sorwathe

DID YOU KNOW?

> APROCASSI
> CAC BAGUA GRANDE
> CAC FRONTERA DE
SAN IGNACIO
> CAC LA PROSPERIDAD
DE CHIRINOS
> CAC PANGOA
> CAC SAN JUAN
DEL ORO
> CECOVASA
> CEPICAFE
> COCLA

DID YOU KNOW?

> Kelliewatte was the
first tea estate in
Sri Lanka to become
Fairtrade certified.

> The tea from
Chamong is the
first ever Indian
produce to go into a
Cafédirect product.

DID YOU KNOW?

> The number of farmers
belonging to our
five Mexican partner
organisations is 6,620.

> Our two partners
in Nicaragua have
joined forces to
create our unique
Cloud Forest blend
Roast and Ground and
wholebean coffees.

DID YOU KNOW?

DID YOU KNOW?

> Cafédirect bought
Recocarno’s first ever
container of coffee
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2008.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the company in the year under review was that of brand management and trading in
Fairtrade products under the brand names Cafédirect, Teadirect and Cocodirect.
No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.
BUSINESS REVIEW
Turnover in 2008 was £22.3 million, marginally higher than in 2007. As in previous years, the “out-of-home”
sector continued to grow strongly, 21% year-on-year, to £5.6 million. Trading conditions elsewhere in the UK
business continued to be challenging and revenues fell by 5% year-on-year to £16.2 million. International sales
also fell slightly, to £0.5m, due to the company’s decision to focus on its core UK markets.
Gross profit grew slightly year-on-year, with the margin improving from 32% to 33% of turnover. Supply chain
initiatives were an important element of this improvement, with raw materials and finished products now being
transported more directly and efficiently. The weakness of the US dollar, the currency in which coffee, tea and
cocoa purchases are denominated, also helped to sustain the margin although, in US dollar terms, the average
price paid to producers for coffee and tea increased year-on-year by around 15%, and for cocoa by over 40%.
Shipping and other transport costs also increased substantially during the year due to the high oil price.
Administration costs decreased from £6.6 million to £6.5 million. Further analysis of these costs is shown in
note 3 to the accounts. In summary these costs comprise:
•

International costs, which were reduced substantially from £0.5 million to £0.1 million due to the 2007
expansion project being put on hold and focus being switched to the core UK business;

•

PPP investment (see ‘Benefits to Grower Partners’ section below), which increased by 9% to £658,000;
and

•

Costs in the underlying UK business, which increased from £5.5 million to £5.7 million. This increase
is mainly due to:
o

Additional costs incurred with Bridgethorne, who have acted as Cafédirect’s retail sales team for
the past eight years and who also provide the company with retail shopper marketing services.
These additional costs include (i) work done to develop a hot beverage category vision; (ii)
additional shopper and consumer marketing activities; (iii) incentive payments for achieving
additional listings of Cafédirect products with UK retailers; and (iv) costs associated with the
termination of Cafédirect’s sales contract with Bridgethorne. It was decided to terminate this
contract as a result of a strategic decision to bring the company’s retail sales function in-house.
Cafédirect would like to thank Bridgethorne and all their staff for their efforts over the past eight
years in helping to grow our sales with the major UK retailers from under £6 million in 2000 to
over £14 million in 2008; and

o

Dilapidations and other costs associated with the company’s decision to exercise a break clause in
its lease and move office in 2009.

As a result of the above factors, the company’s profit before tax increased from £705,000 in 2007 to £901,000 in
2008. The company’s net cash balance also improved significantly during the year, from £3.1 million at 30
September 2007 to £4.2 million at 30 September 2008. This performance was driven by profitability and a
reduction in working capital. Stock, debtors and creditors were all higher at 30 September 2008 than at 30
September 2007 primarily due to the company’s decision to move its Roast & Ground coffee production from
Gala Coffee to Bewleys Ltd. The changeover was implemented towards the end of September 2008 and, as a
result, stock cover was increased to ensure no disruption to supply. To achieve this, finished goods stocks were
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purchased from Gala and the amount owed to Gala remained in creditors at the year-end. In addition, part of the
Bridgethorne and office move costs mentioned above remained unpaid at 30 September 2008.
Looking forward, the company intends to continue to focus on its core UK markets. These are increasingly
challenging and price competitive due to the poor economic environment and stronger competition. The
company will face these challenges by continuing to focus on its brand development, improving its direct links
with grower partners and customers, simplifying and strengthening its business model and continuing to
improve the efficiency of its operations. These activities will continue to be governed by the company’s Gold
Standard.
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The company’s key financial performance indicators, which are closely monitored throughout the year and
measured against pre-set targets, include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sales values, analysed by key sectors such as UK retail, out-of-home and international;
Gross profit, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of sales;
The level of administration costs, looking at the ongoing UK business separately from other costs;
Operating profit and profit before tax;
The level of working capital employed in the business, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of
sales; and
Cash generated by the business.

The company’s performance in 2008 against these indicators is set out in the Business Review section above.
In addition, the company has a number of other key performance indicators, with the company’s performance
against these indicators sometimes being called the company’s “social return”. These include:
•
•
•

The amounts paid by Cafédirect for its coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials over and above market
prices. These amounts include, but are not restricted to Fairtrade premiums;
The amount invested in Cafédirect’s unique PPP (Producer Partnership Programme); and
The volume of coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials purchased from grower partners.

The company’s performance in 2008 against these indicators is set out in the ‘Benefits to Grower Partners’
section below.
BENEFITS TO GROWER PARTNERS
As a Fairtrade company, Cafédirect meets all the requirements laid down by the Fairtrade Labelling
Organisation (FLO), including the payment of Fairtrade premiums for coffee, tea and cocoa. However,
Cafédirect’s policies go above and beyond the minimum Fairtrade requirements. These policies apply to 100%
of the company’s products. In particular, during 2008:
•

For coffee, Cafédirect paid the higher of the Fairtrade minimum price and the market price plus 10%.
In addition, Cafédirect sets its own minimum prices for gourmet coffees and gourmet organic coffees
which are higher than the Fairtrade minimums;

•

For tea, Cafedirect pays a social premium of 60¢ per kilogram compared with the Fairtrade social
premium of 50¢ per kilogram. In addition, Cafédirect has its own minimum prices for each grade of tea
which are higher than the Fairtrade minimums.

In 2008, including Fairtrade premiums Cafédirect paid £886,000 (2007: £971,000) more than the market price
for its coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials. These premiums paid to grower partners were slightly higher in 2007
due to the company’s policy of providing more support to grower partners when the market price is low.
In addition, Cafédirect’s most distinctive difference is its Producer Partnership Programme (PPP). This
programme primarily consists of business development programmes tailored to the needs of the grower
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organisations which supply the company with raw materials. They include marketing, quality control, crop
husbandry and crop diversification projects. This is a discretionary investment by Cafédirect aimed at
strengthening the grower organisations in line with the Company’s Gold Standard. It ensures Cafédirect’s
product quality is second to none. Funding of these programmes is over and above Fairtrade terms.
The company invested £658,000 in PPP during 2008. This represents an increase of nearly 9% over 2007. In
addition, a further £707,000 was raised during the year with minimal additional cost to the company by our PPP
implementation partners, Twin and Imani, as well as through Cafédirect’s own fund-raising efforts. These funds
were raised on the basis of 50:50 matching with Cafédirect’s PPP spend. The total benefit of £1,365,000 for our
grower partners in 2008 represents an increase of 5% over 2007.
Over the last 5 years, Cafédirect has invested more than £3 million in PPP; this represents more than half of the
company’s profits (before PPP) over the same period.
Purchases from grower organisations in Latin America, Africa and Asia in 2008 were as follows:
•
•
•

2,847 tonnes of coffee beans, representing an increase of 400 tonnes (16%) over 2007;
957 tonnes of tea, representing an increase of 4 tonnes over 2007; and
101 tonnes of cocoa beans, representing an increase of 50 tonnes over 2007.

AREAS OF FOCUS FOR THE PRODUCER PARTNERSHIP PROGRAMME
Despite the overall challenging business environment, the Producer Partnership Programme (“PPP”) has been
able not only to deliver its original plans and activities, but extend its coverage in the second half of the year to
take on additional work, especially in light of exposure of some of our grower partners to natural disasters. The
four main strategic topics identified during 2006 guided the PPP work and are set out below.
Governance and Compliance:
Governance and Compliance, especially issues relating to Fairtrade Labelling Organisation (“FLO”)
certification, unfortunately occupied our attention in 2008, and we supported our grower partners to overcome
FLO certification issues and to adapt to changing internal and external standards. In talks with the Fairtrade
Foundation we have urged them to directly support grower partners whenever possible to enable them to remain
in the Fairtrade system. Very positive developments in terms of smallholder empowerment and organisational
strengthening have been achieved with our partners RSTGA (Tanzania), Ankole (Uganda) and Kelliewatte (Sri
Lanka).
Efficient Management of Trading Operations:
Management support remains the single largest area of activity for PPP, with activities across a wide array of
topics such as the optimisation of ongoing trading operations, improvement of management skills, the
introduction of quality management and quality control systems and food safety standards. Environmental
topics once again dominated the public debate in the UK and worldwide, and the PPP teams have been engaging
in a variety of activities to address these challenges and support grower partners. Energy efficiency work and
sustainable timber production with tea partners have been at the forefront. Cafédirect also responded swiftly and
decisively to the damage caused by natural disasters to our grower partners Fedecares (Dominican Republic)
and Recocarno (Haiti) by providing reconstruction support for both organisations and their members. Under the
Cafédirect/GTZ Climate Change project (GTZ is the German Technical Co-Operation Group), work was carried
out to identify local climate change scenarios through innovative risk and opportunity assessments with
Cepicafe (Peru), Prodecoop (Nicaragua) and Mascafe (Mexico). Specific climate change maps in these coffee
regions have been developed to allow our partners to devise better adaptation strategies and all three partners
have drafted action plans and received financial support to start implementing their adaptation measures.
Another important topic covered in this area was the introduction of price risk management tools for coffee
partners, increasingly important in a volatile market place. This required intensive support to carry out effective
price risk management as well as monitoring the use of these tools, which is ongoing. Work with coffee
partners has also focused on building the capacity of grower organisations to make timely, informed business
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decisions, train and build-up a middle management to strengthen the human resources base of each organisation,
prepare strategic and operational plans, introduce and implement quality management systems and begin to
develop a traceability system for our Cafédirect gourmet coffee products. Whilst this was definitely a supplier
environment, PPP activities helped secure new markets in Asia and USA for four of our coffee partners.
Policy Influence and Joint Learning:
Grower partners, specifically the regional networks CLAC in Latin America and AFN in Africa, received
substantial support and guidance to participate in the FLO strategic review and development of the new FLO
business model, which allows for greater involvement of grower organisations and focuses on producer
empowerment.
There have also been some joint learning initiatives. Twenty seven participants attended the Cafédirect
Producers Limited Annual General Meeting and stakeholder events in Kampala (Uganda) and Minneapolis
(USA). Furthermore, tea and coffee partners have taken part in product–specific events in Africa, Latin
America, Europe and USA. African tea partners met in February to share their experiences of PPP work and
impact. All coffee partners attended various national, regional and international forums.
Communication & Information/ New partners:
This area saw increased direct communication and information flows between Cafédirect and the grower
partners. Cafédirect Producers Limited (“CPL”), which is a company owned by 27 producer groups that holds
shares in Cafédirect plc, increasingly provides a focal point for this communication and much effort and work
was put into strengthening CPL during 2008. We intend to continue this process going forward. 72% of all
Cafédirect producer partners actively engaged in the process and participated in the stakeholder events. Also,
three new members have been accepted as potential members of CPL, namely Igara (Uganda), Michimikuru
(Kenya) and Pangoa (Peru). These new additions further enhance CPL’s governance and representation status.
Cafédirect also established new relationships with grower organisations during the year. Sorwathe SARL in
Rwanda and Chamong Tea Company in India supply us with tea for our premium ‘Gold’ product. Looking to
future cocoa partners, a co-operation agreement has been secured with the International Fund for Agricultural
Development (IFAD) and the Government of São Tomé to work with a group of 755 cocoa growers to improve
their cocoa quality, set up an export co-operative and assist them in acquiring FLO certification.
Increased relationship building was achieved by doubling our efforts to engage directly with grower partners
through a variety of means, such as newsletters, tele- and online-communications and more visits by Cafédirect
staff to partners, as well as growers continuing to visit the UK.
Finally, we would like to thank our long-standing PPP partners, Twin, Imani Development, FairOrganic
Solutions, German Technical Co-Operation (GTZ) and Oxfam Sri Lanka without whose outstanding efforts and
commitment the PPP activities and achievements would not have been possible.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The company seeks to mitigate exposure to all forms of risk, both internal and external, where practicable, and
to transfer risk to insurers, where cost-effective. This approach is operated under the company’s Gold Standard
which includes within its buying and trading policy the statement that Cafédirect will “manage trade in ways
that minimise risk to producers and their organisations”.
The directors consider that the principal risks that face the company are as follows:
•
•

The company buys raw materials from small and disadvantaged growers, often located in remote and
under-developed regions of the world. The company mitigates this risk by holding appropriate levels of
stock in the supply chain;
The company is exposed to currency movements in that it buys most of its raw materials in US dollars,
pays for its processing of freeze-dried coffee in Euros and sells most of its finished products in pounds
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•

•

sterling. The company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate this risk as set out in note
23 to the accounts;
The company buys raw material commodities such as coffee, tea and cocoa, the market prices of which
are quoted on international commodity exchanges. Any increases or volatility in prices and shortages in
supply can affect the company’s performance. The company mitigates this risk by buying commodity
futures and options as appropriate - whilst still paying the producer the full market price (and
additional amounts under Cafédirect and Fairtrade policies); and
A significant proportion of the company’s revenues are derived from the UK retail sector, and therefore
inevitably come from a relatively small number of customers. The company is mitigating this risk by
developing sales in other sectors, such as out-of-home and international, and also takes out credit
insurance where appropriate.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results for the year are set out on page 18.
Taking into account the company’s Gold Standard, an assessment of the company’s current risk profile and
future investment plans, the directors are recommending the payment of a dividend for the year of 2p per share
(2007: nil).
DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The directors who served during the year and their beneficial interests in the share capital of the company were
as follows:

Krishna Gopala (Chair)
Geoff Tudhope (Chair)
Raúl del Aguila
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro
Anne MacCaig (Chief Executive)
Fiona McAnena
Tim Morgan
Penny Newman (Chief Executive)
Richard Scanlon (Finance Director)

Resigned 31 July 2008

Appointed 15 April 2008

Resigned 15 April 2008

2008
No of shares
3,000
1,700
1,500
1,000
1,500
-

2007
No of shares
3,000
1,700
500
1,000
1,500
-

There have been no changes in the interests of directors between 30 September 2008 and the date of this report.
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
As at the date of this report, the company is aware of the following shareholdings:

Twin Trading Limited
Traidcraft plc
Equal Exchange Trading Limited
Oxfam Activities Limited
Cafédirect Producers Limited
Rathbone Nominees Limited

Number of shares
907,500
905,000
903,000
903,000
440,000
324,650

% of total
10.1
10.1
10.0
10.0
4.9
3.6

No other shareholder owns more than 3% of the company’s shares. The company limits the number of shares in
which a shareholder has an interest to a maximum of 15% of the company’s issued Ordinary shares.
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ANALYSIS OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2008
Number of shares
1 – 500
501 – 1,000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 and over
Total

Number of
shareholders
2,710
1,154
537
30
31
4,462

% of total Number of shares
shareholders
60.7
1,094,350
25.9
1,087,250
12.0
1,469,800
0.7
266,300
0.7
5,077,700
100.0
8,995,400

% of total
shares
12.2
12.1
16.3
3.0
56.4
100.0

GUARDIANS’ SHARE
There is one Guardians’ share, held by the Guardian Share Company Ltd. This company is equally owned by
the four founders of Cafédirect (Equal Exchange Trading Ltd, Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin
Trading Ltd) and Cafédirect Producers Ltd, and has the right to nominate a director to the company’s Board. Its
consent is also required for the appointment of the Chair of the Board and for any changes to the company’s
Gold Standard and its consent is also required for certain changes to the company’s Articles of Incorporation.
POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS
No political or charitable donations were made during the year.
EMPLOYEES
It is our policy to keep our employees informed, through regular team meetings and other communications, on
our performance and on matters affecting them as employees.
It is also our policy to give proper consideration to applications for employment received from people with
disabilities, and to give employees who become disabled every opportunity to continue their employment.
Share Incentive Plan
There were no awards made this year.
Pensions
All employees are entitled to join the company’s defined contribution pension scheme after completing three
months’ service. The company contributes an amount equal to 9% of basic salary provided the employee
contributes at least 1% of their basic salary.
Healthcare
The company operates a private healthcare scheme which all employees are entitled to join after completing 3
months’ service.
PAYMENT OF SUPPLIERS
As part of our Fairtrade commitment, in addition to ensuring that our grower partners have access to necessary
pre-finance, we aim to pay the balance of money owed within three working days of receipt of invoice,
supported by a bill of lading. For all other purchases, it is our policy to agree payment terms with suppliers
when negotiating business transactions and to pay suppliers in accordance with contractual or other legal
obligations. Trade creditors at 30 September 2008 represented 30 days (2007: 26 days) of annual purchases.
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The company operates extensively in overseas currencies. As a result, the company enters into foreign currency
forward contracts when considered appropriate. At 30 September 2008 a proportion of the company’s future
currency requirements were covered by such contracts. As required by FRS 25 the fair value of the exchange
rate risk hedge has been disclosed in note 23.
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STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR
The directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed, as far as
they are aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware. Each of the directors
have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to the
auditor.
AUDITOR
A resolution to reappoint Baker Tilly UK Audit LLP as auditor will be put to the members at the Annual
General Meeting.
By order of the Board

Stuart Raistrick
Secretary
19 December 2008
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CODE OF BEST PRACTICE
The Board recognises that the New Combined Code on Corporate Governance, published by the Financial
Reporting Council in July 2003, represents best practice for public companies and is committed to working
towards compliance with the code in a manner that is appropriate to the company’s size and structure.
THE BOARD
At 30 September 2008, in line with the structure put in place at the time of the public share issue in 2004, the
Board consisted of:
Non executive chair*
Chief executive
Finance director
2 Independent non executive directors
2 Producer directors
1 Guardian nominee director
1 Consumer director
* One of the two independent non executive directors, Geoff Tudhope, was Acting Chair at 30 September 2008
and was appointed as Chair on 4 November 2008.
Each year, one third of the eligible directors retire, in rotation, at the Annual General Meeting in accordance
with the company’s articles of association. Accordingly, Geoff Tudhope and Raúl del Aguila retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The selection of new directors is delegated to the Nominations and
Remuneration committee, which makes recommendations to the Board. Cafédirect Producers Ltd and the
Guardian Share Company Ltd nominate the producer directors and the Guardian nominee director respectively.
THE DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Anne MacCaig (44) joined the company and was appointed as Chief Executive in April 2008. Anne brings with
her a wealth of business and marketing experience, most recently as Ribena’s Marketing Director. In this role
she led the brand’s strategic turnaround and worked with blackcurrant growers and The Wildlife Trusts to
encourage diversity on British blackcurrant farms. She also ensured Ribena was the first major UK soft drink to
use 100% recycled plastic bottles.
Richard Scanlon (46), who is a Chartered Accountant, was appointed Finance Director in September 2006.
Richard was previously Business Development Director of Gatwick Airport and spent over 11 years with TI
Group plc, now part of Smiths Group plc.
NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Geoff Tudhope (58) was appointed a director in 2000 and Chair in November 2008. He has been chair of the
Nominations and Remuneration Committee since 2003 and will now be succeeded by Graham Fish. Following
a career in ICI plc, Geoff is now a business mentor to CEOs with Merryck & Co, a founder of the Globally
Responsible Leadership Initiative and a board member of the World’s Children’s Prize Foundation for the
Rights of the Child.
Graham Fish (54) was appointed a director in 2006. To ensure continuing good governance, the Board has
decided to create a new role of Senior Non-Executive Director and Graham has been appointed to that role. In
addition he succeeds Geoff Tudhope as Chair of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee. Graham has
over 25 years experience in the UK consumer food sector, and until recently was Group Commercial Director of
Exel plc.
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Guardian nominee director
Tim Morgan (44) was appointed as the Guardians’ nominee director in 2003 and as Chairman of the Audit
Committee in 2005. Tim is a Chartered Accountant, and was previously Finance Director of Traidcraft plc.
Producer directors
Raúl del Aguila (49) was appointed a director in 2004. Raúl is a director of the COCLA co-operative in Peru,
producing coffee and cocoa.
Raymond Kimaro (64) was appointed a director in December 2006. Raymond is the Chair of Cafédirect
Producers Ltd and General Manager of the coffee growers co-operative at Kilimanjaro known as KNCU.
Consumer director
Fiona McAnena (44) was appointed a director in November 2004. Fiona is Vice-President of innovation at
PepsiCo UK & Ireland. She is a Fellow of the Marketing Society and is on the management board. She was a
director of the Environment Council for seven years.
The Board is responsible for setting strategy, approving budgets, capital expenditure, investments and
disinvestments. A report, translated into Spanish as required, summarising the company’s financial and
operational performance is sent to the directors at least seven days in advance of Board meetings, the aim being
to provide each director with information to help them make informed judgements on matters referred to the
Board. The Board meets at least four times a year.
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Board has established a Nominations and Remunerations committee, consisting entirely of non-executive
directors and their terms of reference, and details of each director’s remuneration, are explained on pages 14 to
16.
The report of the Nominations and Remuneration committee will be an item on the agenda of the Annual
General Meeting in 2009.
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
The Board invites all shareholders to participate at the Annual General Meeting and provides the Annual Report,
Company announcements and other information on the website at www.cafedirect.co.uk.
If you have any questions about: transfer of shares, change of name or address, lost share certificates, death of a
registered holder of shares, or any other query relating to the company’s shares, please contact the Registrar on
0845 600 9662, or at the following address:
Brewin Dolphin Securities
P O Box 512
National House, 36 St Ann Street
Manchester
M60 2EP
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial
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statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit
or loss of the company for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:
a.

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

b.

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

c.

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

d.

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
INTERNAL CONTROL
The directors have responsibility for the company’s system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The directors confirm that the process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
company is in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance, was in place throughout the accounting period and up to
the date when the financial statements were approved, and is regularly reviewed by the Board.
Management are responsible for the identification and evaluation of significant risks and for the design and
implementation of appropriate internal controls. These risks are assessed on an ongoing basis and may be
associated with internal or external factors. Management report regularly to the Board on the key risks and on
the way that these are managed, and also report to the Board on any significant changes to the company’s
business and on any risks associated with these changes. There is active Board involvement in assessing the key
business risks facing the company and determining the appropriate course of action for managing these risks.
The directors have established procedures designed to provide an effective system of internal control, with the
following features:
-

budgetary control over all departments, measuring performance against pre-determined targets on a
monthly basis
regular forecasting and reviews covering trading performance, assets, liabilities and cash flow
delegated limits of authority covering key financial commitments including capital expenditure and
recruitment
identification and management of key business risks

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal
control during the year.
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GOING CONCERN
The directors confirm that, after making appropriate enquiries, they have a reasonable expectation that the
company has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the accounts.

Stuart Raistrick
Company Secretary
19 December 2008
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Committee members during the year have been:
Tim Morgan
Stuart Raistrick

Guardian nominee director
Company Secretary

Richard Scanlon, as Finance Director, provides support and information to the Committee, but in keeping with
good practice is not formally a member. This means that the ongoing membership of the Committee is two
people, which is considered adequate for a company of the size and scale of Cafédirect plc. Both members have
considerable experience of financial reporting and of risk management. The Board however continues to believe
that it would be desirable to have a third formal member of the Audit Committee, to add further skills and
resilience to this group, but at present there are not suitable non-executive directors available within the
Cafédirect Board to undertake this role.
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to establish formal and transparent arrangements regarding financial
reporting and internal control principles and to maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s
auditors.
Our aim as a Committee is to ensure compliance with all recommendations of Corporate Governance as they
apply to a company of our size. We meet at least three times a year and our key areas of activity include:
•
•
•
•

Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements
Leading the Board’s oversight of the risk register
Working with the external auditors and monitoring the ongoing audit, legal and banking requirements of the
company
Working with the Nominations and Remuneration committee to create the framework and approach for the
Board Capability Audit

The need for an Internal Audit function was reviewed and considered inappropriate at this stage. The
requirement will be reassessed next year in the context of the company’s continued growth.
During 2008, the Audit Committee focused on leading the implementation of the Board Capability audit, the
key results of which are reported in the Nominations and Remuneration Committee report in these accounts.
Movement of exchange rates and commodity prices have been volatile over the last 18 months, and the Audit
Committee through its leadership in overseeing the Risk Register has been ensuring that the risks to the
Company in this regard are appropriately managed, without transferring risk to the growers.
Finally, the Committee has again been involved in ensuring that long-standing accruals for marketing activity
are appropriately calculated and balances regularly reassessed to verify that they should continue to be held.

Tim Morgan
Chair – Audit Committee

19 December 2008
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATIONS AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Committee members during the year have been:
Geoff Tudhope (Chair)
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro
Elizabeth Smith/ Moira Rugg

Independent non-executive director
Independent non-executive director
Non-executive producer director
Secretary (HR manager)

The Committee’s purpose is to oversee on behalf of the Board formal and transparent arrangements in the spirit
of the Cafédirect Gold Standard and the Guardian Share Company regarding the appointment, development and
reward of the Executive Team and the Board (excluding remuneration of non-executive Directors).
Our aim is to comply with all provisions of the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and the
Combined Code as they apply to a company of our size. The committee met formally five times in the past year
including the selection process for the new CEO.
NOMINATIONS
Key activities:
•

Objective: Together with the Audit Committee, recommend a Board capability template of skills,
knowledge, experience and mindset needed to help guide the strategy.
Outcome: The template and Board performance for each element was reviewed in June 2008 (third
anniversary). The assessment indicated that much of the advocacy for Fairtrade rested on the shoulders of
the CEO and the Producers and that all Board members would look at ways to contribute in future.

•

Objective: Identify, and nominate for approval of the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies.
Outcome: Penny Newman, CEO, resigned after 10 years with the company and was succeeded by Anne
MacCaig after an extensive search and selection process involving a cross section of staff.
Geoff Tudhope became Acting Chair following Krishna Gopala’s resignation in July. Subsequently the
Nominations Committee led by Graham Fish conducted a succession process. The Board and Guardians
appointed Geoff Tudhope unanimously as the new Chair in November 2008.

•

Objective: Identify, and recommend to the Board, succession plans for directors and oversee succession
plans for the remaining Executive Team members.
Outcome: Succession plans for directors were reviewed with particular reference to the Producer Directors
who have been a huge source of wisdom and continuity and who retire at the end of 2009 and in the middle
of 2010. Cafédirect Producers Limited (“CPL”) manages the nominations process and a structured
induction process will be introduced after the nominations are made at the CPL AGM in March 2009 and
subsequently approved by the Cafédirect Board.
At the Executive Team level, Mark Carden was appointed interim Head of Marketing following Sylvie
Barr’s resignation. In addition, Jon Marlow has been appointed Head of Sales.

REMUNERATION
Key activities:
•

Objective: Determine and agree with the Board the policy, externally benchmarked, for the remuneration of
the CEO, Finance Director and remaining Executive Team members. This sets the framework for
considering remuneration for all employees.
Outcome: The policy was reviewed this year and formulated as follows. Cafédirect is determined to
maximise its return to its growers and their communities. To deliver this, it requires employees who are
socially motivated, and have the necessary skills and experience to run and grow the business successfully
in a very competitive environment. Working at Cafédirect brings many other benefits through its social
enterprise culture and ultimate social goal and the ability to influence the business and the way it is run,
however a reasonable remuneration package must be offered. This will require salaries of a sufficient level
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to attract and retain such people, taking into account the appropriate market for the necessary skills. The
Public Sector and FMCG markets will be used as the market guides, because of Cafédirect’s dual purpose
and status.
•

Objective: Determine the remuneration of the Chair of Cafédirect. The Chair of Cafédirect and the
executive members of the Board determine the remuneration of all other non-executive directors.
Outcome: There were no changes.

•

Objective: Approve the design of any performance related pay schemes and share incentive plans.
Outcome: A senior executive annual bonus scheme is in place (up to 30% of basic salary) based on a gainsharing philosophy to enhance both non-financial and financial performance.

•

Objective: Determine the policy and scope for pension arrangements for each executive director and the
remaining members of the Executive Team. Again, this sets the framework for considering pension policy
for all employees.
Outcome: The pension policy has not been further changed following the review in 2007. It is a stakeholder
pension with the following design criteria:
o
o
o
o
o

Flexibility (portability for staff to match different life styles)
Cost effectiveness
Felt fairness as part of the overall reward package
Ease of use by employees and ease of administration
Transparency

Towry Law is the company’s Pension Advisor and funds are held in Friends Provident Stewardship Funds.
The company contribution is 9% of basic salary subject to a minimum employee contribution of 1%.
Executive Directors
Basic entitlements:
Each executive director has a service contract which is subject to a notice period of 3 months.
Each executive director is paid a basic salary subject to review on 1 October each year. In addition, the
executive directors are entitled to a share in an annual senior executive bonus as mentioned above. The benefit
of private medical insurance is available to all employees, including executive directors.
Pension provision:
Executive directors are entitled to join the company’s defined contribution pension scheme after completing
three months’ service. The company contributes an amount equal to 9% of basic salary provided the employee
contributes at least 1% of their basic salary.
Share Incentive Plan (SIP):
There were no awards made during the year.
CHAIR AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
The remuneration of the Chair and the non-executive directors is at levels intended to attract individuals of an
appropriate calibre and commitment.
The Chair and the non-executive directors do not have service contracts. Each non-executive director receives
an annual fee plus a fee for acting as chair of a Board committee. The Chair and the non-executive directors are
not entitled to participate in the company’s share incentive plan, or any performance pay scheme or pension
scheme and would not receive any compensation in the event of early termination.

Page 15

Cafédirect plc
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The fees of the Chair and the non-executive directors remain at the levels set with effect from 1 October 2005.
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Krishna Gopala (Chair) *
Raúl del Aguila
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro
Anne MacCaig (Chief Executive) **
Fiona McAnena
Tim Morgan
Penny Newman **
Richard Scanlon (Finance Director)
Geoff Tudhope (Chair)***

Fees
£
12,500
7,500
9,000
7,500
7,500
10,000
13,750
67,750

Salary
£
55,769
36,410
65,625
157,804

Bonus
£
8,500
4,800
11,000
24,300

Pension
contribs
£
5,019†
3,277
5,906
14,202

Other
benefits
£
3,000
10,000
13,000

Total
£
12,500
7,500
9,000
7,500
69,288
7,500
10,000
47,487
92,531
13,750
277,056

* resigned 31 July 2008
** Anne MacCaig was appointed, and Penny Newman resigned, as Chief Executive on 15 April 2008
*** appointed Chair on 4 November 2008 (and was Acting Chair from 1 August 2008)
† not paid into the company’s pension scheme
Fees for Raúl del Aguila and Raymond Kimaro were paid to their employers, the COCLA coffee and cocoa cooperative in Peru and the KNCU coffee co-operative in Tanzania, respectively.
The fees set out above include an additional £1,500 for each of Geoff Tudhope, Graham Fish and Tim Morgan
who, at the Board’s request, worked on a project with our Guardians to clarify respective roles and
responsibilities and agree suitable channels and frequency of communication.

Geoff Tudhope
Chair – Nominations and Remuneration Committee

19 December 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CAFÉDIRECT PLC
We have audited the financial statements on pages 18 to 31.
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have
not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements. This other information comprises the Corporate Governance Statements. We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.
Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.
Opinion
In our opinion
−
the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs at 30 September 2008 and of its
profit for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985; and
−
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
2 Bloomsbury Street
London WC1B 3ST
19 December 2008
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Notes

2008
£

2007
£

TURNOVER

1

22,343,525

22,333,144

Cost of sales

2

(15,061,056)

(15,093,229)

7,282,469

7,239,915

(6,522,730)

(6,583,661)

Gross profit
Administration expenses

3

OPERATING PROFIT

759,739

656,254

Investment income
Interest payable

4
5

143,559
(2,093)

81,295
(32,482)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION

6

901,205

705,067

Taxation

8

(273,800)

(205,477)

17

627,405

499,590

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAXATION

The operating profit for the year arises from the company’s continuing operations.
No separate Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses has been presented as all such gains and losses
have been dealt with in the profit and loss account.
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Notes

2008
£

2007
£

10

85,927

160,397

11
12

3,945,729
3,699,172
4,180,595

3,816,020
3,448,232
3,057,034

11,825,496

10,321,286

(3,437,815)

(2,942,207)

NET CURRENT ASSETS

8,387,681

7,379,079

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

8,473,608

7,539,476

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

13

14

NET ASSETS

(306,727)

-

8,166,881

7,539,476

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

15
16
17

2,248,850
3,303,691
2,614,340

2,248,850
3,303,691
1,986,935

EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

18

8,166,881

7,539,476

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 19 December 2008

Tim Morgan
Director
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 September 2008
Notes

2008
£

2007
£

Cash flow from operating activities

19a

1,297,806

1,233,352

Returns on investments and servicing of finance

19b

141,466

48,813

(240,281)

(6,741)

(94,353)

(4,824)

Taxation
Capital expenditure and servicing of finance

19b

CASH INFLOW BEFORE FINANCING
Financing

1,104,638
19b

INCREASE IN CASH IN THE PERIOD

20,655
1,125,293

1,270,600
(693,935)
576,665

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN FUNDS

Increase in cash in the period
(Increase)/decrease in loan from Shared Interest Ltd.

2008
£

2007
£

1,125,293

576,665

(20,655)

693,935

INCREASE IN NET FUNDS IN PERIOD

1,104,638

1,270,600

NET FUNDS AT START OF PERIOD

3,075,957

1,805,357

4,180,595

3,075,957

NET FUNDS AT END OF PERIOD

19c
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BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable accounting standards.
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are stated at historical cost.
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write each asset down to its estimated
residual value evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:Short leasehold land and buildings
Office equipment and furniture

Over the life of the lease
Over three years on a straight line basis

STOCKS AND WORK IN PROGRESS
Stocks and work in progress are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of finished goods and
work in progress includes overheads appropriate to the stage of manufacture. Net realisable value is based upon
estimated selling price less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal. Provision is made
for obsolete and slow-moving items.
FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.
RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The company operates a defined contribution scheme where the amount charged to the profit and loss account in
respect of pension costs and other post retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year. Differences
between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or
prepayments in the balance sheet.
DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a
right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are differences
between the company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements that arise from the
inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in
the financial statements.
Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.
LEASED ASSETS AND OBLIGATIONS
Where assets are financed by leasing agreements that give rights approximating to ownership (“finance leases”),
the assets are treated as if they had been purchased outright. The amount capitalised is the present value of the
minimum lease payments payable during the lease term. The corresponding leasing commitments are shown as
obligations to the lessor.
Lease payments are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements, and the interest is charged to the profit
and loss account in proportion to the remaining balance outstanding.
All other leases are “operating leases” and the annual rentals are charged to profit and loss on a straight line
basis over the lease term.
TURNOVER
Turnover represents the value, net of Value Added Tax, of goods sold and services provided to customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2008

1

TURNOVER AND PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION
The company’s turnover and profit before taxation were all derived from its principal activity. Sales
can be analysed as follows:
2008
2007
£
£
By geographical market:
United Kingdom
21,804,035
21,618,138
Overseas sales
539,490
715,006

By product group:
Roast & Ground coffee
Freeze-Dried coffee
Tea
Hot Chocolate

2

COST OF SALES INCLUDING PREMIUMS PAID TO
PRODUCER ORGANISATIONS
Opening stock as at 1 October
Purchases
Premiums
Closing stock as at 30 September

22,343,525

22,333,144

7,528,235
9,299,990
4,750,897
764,403

6,892,881
10,150,878
4,659,832
629,553

22,343,525

22,333,144

2008
£

2007
£

3,816,020
14,304,481
886,284
(3,945,729)

4,417,644
13,520,893
970,712
(3,816,020)

15,061,056

15,093,229

2008 purchases are net of £111,997 (2007: £178,414) of accruals made in previous years which have
been reversed during the year. A thorough review has shown they are no longer necessary. These
accruals were originally set up in respect of retail trade investments.
3

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Staff costs (see note 7)
Marketing and selling costs
Producer partnership programmes (PPP)
Property-related costs
Depreciation
Export development costs
International expansion project
Other administrative expenses

4

INVESTMENT INCOME

Bank interest receivable

2008
£

2007
£

1,538,634
2,636,860
658,178
296,305
158,966
107,863
1,125,924

1,371,175
2,798,492
606,446
198,271
115,284
209,394
285,829
998,770

6,522,730

6,583,661

2008
£

2007
£

143,559

81,295

Page 22

Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5

6

INTEREST PAYABLE

2008
£

2007
£

On bank loans and overdrafts
On other loans

29
2,064

778
31,704

2,093

32,482

2008
£

2007
£

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after
charging/(crediting):
Depreciation and amounts written off tangible fixed assets:
Charge for the year – owned assets
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Exchange gains
Operating lease rentals:
Plant and machinery
Land & buildings
Auditors’ remuneration – statutory audit
Remuneration of auditors for non-audit work – taxation

7

EMPLOYEES

The average monthly number of persons (including executive
directors) employed by the company during the year was:
Sales and marketing
Operations and administration

Staff costs for above persons:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

158,966
9,857
(89,221)

115,284
(185,310)

7,570
141,875
28,500
2,625

7,570
136,021
27,000
2,500

2008
No.

2007
No.

14
20

12
19

34

31

2008
£

2007
£

1,325,878
141,524
71,232

1,158,003
135,464
77,708

1,538,634

1,371,175
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7

EMPLOYEES (Cont’d)

2008
£

2007
£

Emoluments
Amounts paid to defined contribution pension schemes

262,854
14,202

235,768
11,458

Total emoluments

277,056

247,226

No.

No.

3

2

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The number of directors to whom relevant benefits
were accruing under defined contribution pension
schemes was

£

£

Amounts paid in respect of highest paid director:
Emoluments (including benefits in kind)
Amounts paid to defined contribution pension schemes

86,625
5,906

90,788
6,723

Total emoluments

92,531

97,511
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8

TAXATION

2008
£

2007
£

Current tax:
UK corporation tax on profits of the year
Adjustments in respect of previous years

264,847
26,782

213,499
1,607

Total current tax

291,629

215,106

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Effect of increased tax rate on opening liability

(17,954)
125

(9,629)
-

Total deferred tax

(17,829)

(9,629)

TOTAL TAXATION

273,800

205,477

2008
£

2007
£

901,205

705,067

252,337

211,521

3,880
20,843
(10,129)
(11,617)
9,533
26,782

1,200
20,332
(527)
(19,027)
1,607

291,629

215,106

Factors affecting tax charge for period:
The tax assessed for the period is higher than the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK (28%). The differences are explained
below:
Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by small companies marginal
rate of corporation tax in the UK 28% (2007: 30%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation
Other timing differences
Benefit of small companies starting rate
Effect of higher rate tax for part of year
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous periods
Tax charge for period

Page 25

Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2008

10

11

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Short
leasehold
improvements
£

Computer
equipment
£

Total
£

Cost:
1 October 2007
Additions
Disposals

100,001
49,869
-

50,548
(32,329)

256,949
44,484
(705)

407,498
94,353
(33,034)

30 September 2008

149,870

18,219

300,728

468,817

Depreciation:
1 October 2007
Charged in the year
Disposals

78,474
71,396
-

23,869
14,479
(22,526)

144,758
73,091
(651)

247,101
158,966
(23,177)

30 September 2008

149,870

15,822

217,198

382,890

Net book value:
30 September 2008

-

2,397

83,530

85,927

30 September 2007

21,527

26,679

112,191

160,397

STOCKS

Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for resale

12

Furniture,
fixtures &
fittings
£

2008
£

2007
£

2,035,690
1,220,880
689,159

1,857,151
610,926
1,347,943

3,945,729

3,816,020

2008
£

2007
£

3,399,721
254,820
44,631

3,038,541
392,575
17,116

3,699,172

3,448,232

DEBTORS

Due within one year:
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Included in other debtors is £19,709 in relation to deferred tax (2007: £1,880).
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13

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

Bank loans and overdraft
Trade creditors
Corporation tax
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

2008
£

2007
£

1,669,618
264,847
46,671
48,338
1,408,341

1,732
1,239,505
213,499
34,311
47,940
1,405,220

3,437,815

2,942,207

The company has a buyer revolving credit facility from the Shared Interest Society Ltd. This is
unsecured and amounts outstanding are due to be repaid within three months. At 30 September 2008
the company owed £nil on this facility and at 30 September 2007 was in credit to the tune of £20,655
which has been netted off ‘Other creditors’.
14

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

Deferred
taxation
£

Other
provisions
£

Balance at 30 September 2007
Transfer from profit and loss account

(1,880)
(17,829)

306,727

Balance at 30 September 2008

(19,709)

306,727

Other provisions are made in respect of additional costs incurred with Bridgethorne and dilapidation costs
associated with the company’s decision to move offices. Further details are set out in the directors’ report.
All provisions are payable within the next 12 months.
2008
£

2007
£

Accelerated capital allowances
Other timing differences

(17,791)
(1,918)

838
(2,718)

Balance at 30 September

(19,709)

(1,880)

Provision for deferred tax has been made as follows:

Deferred taxation is a net asset and so, accordingly, the above balance is included within debtors (see
note 12) in the balance sheet.
15

SHARE CAPITAL

2008
£

2007
£

Authorised:
14,999,999 ordinary shares of 25p each

3,750,000

3,750,000

Allotted and called up
8,995,400 ordinary shares of 25p each

2,248,850

2,248,850
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In addition to the above allotted and called up share capital there is one Guardians’ share of 25p which
is fully paid.
The Guardians’ share differs from the Ordinary shares in that it has the right to safeguard the
company’s mission and its guiding principles. There is one Guardians’ share, held by the Guardian
Share Company Ltd, a company equally owned by the founders of Cafédirect plc (Equal Exchange
Trading Ltd, Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin Trading Ltd) and Cafédirect Producers Ltd.
It has the right to nominate a director to the company’s Board and its consent is also required for the
appointment of the Chair of the Board, for any changes to the company’s Gold Standard and for certain
changes to the Memorandum and Articles of Association.
Share Incentive Plan
During 2005 35,400 Ordinary shares of 25p each were issued under the company’s Share Incentive
Plan to employees based on their length of service. During 2008, payments totalling £12,900 (2007:
£2,700) were made to employees who left the company during the year in respect of their share
entitlements. At 30 September 2008 employees held 4,500 shares under this Plan with the balance of
30,900 remaining unallocated.
16

SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT

2008
£

2007
£

3,303,691

3,303,691

2008
£

2007
£

Balance at start of year
Profit for the year

1,986,935
627,405

1,487,345
499,590

Balance at end of year

2,614,340

1,986,935

Balance at start and end of year

17

18

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

2008
£

2007
£

Balance at start of year
Profit for the year

7,539,476
627,405

7,039,886
499,590

Balance at end of year

8,166,881

7,539,476
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19

CASH FLOWS

2008
£

a

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating
activities
Operating profit
Depreciation
Loss on sale of fixed assets
(Increase)/decrease in stocks
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

759,739
158,966
9,857
(129,709)
(233,111)
425,337
306,727

Net cash flow from operating activities

b

c

Analysis of cash flows for headings netted in the cash flow

2007
£

656,254
115,284
601,624
1,287,874
(1,427,684)
-

1,297,806

1,233,352

2008
£

2007
£

RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE
Interest received
Interest paid

143,559
(2,093)

81,295
(32,482)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS
AND SERVICING OF FINANCE

141,466

48,813

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets

(94,353)
-

(4,824)
-

NET CASH (OUTFLOW) FROM CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND
FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

(94,353)

(4,824)

FINANCING
Increase/(decrease) in debt due within one year

20,655

(693,935)

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM FINANCING

20,655

(693,935)

Analysis of net funds

At 30
September
2007
£

Cash flow
£

At 30
September
2008
£

Cash in hand, at bank
Bank overdraft

3,057,034
(1,732)

1,123,561
1,732

4,180,595
-

Subtotal
Loan from Shared Interest Ltd

3,055,302
20,655

1,125,293
(20,655)

4,180,595
-

Net funds

3,075,957

1,104,638

4,180,595
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COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
At 30 September 2008 the company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases
as follows:

Land and buildings
expiring in the first year
expiring in the second to fifth year
Other
expiring in the first year
expiring in the second to fifth year

21

2008
£

2007
£

31,410
-

108,174

2,138
2,160

2,138
2,160

35,708

112,472

PENSION COMMITMENTS
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge
represents contributions payable by the company to the fund and amounted to £71,232 (2007: £77,708).
Contributions totalling £6,850 (2007: £9,057) were payable to the fund at the year end and are included
in creditors.

22

COMMITMENTS
At 30 September 2008 the company was committed to purchase £2.0 million (2007: £3.2 million) of
coffee beans, £366,000 (2007: £159,000) of tea and £57,000 (2007: £nil) of cocoa beans. Coffee
commitments at 30 September 2008 were substantially lower than at the same time last year due to
orders for delivery in the second half of 2008/09 not being placed until October 2008 (whereas in 2007
orders for delivery in the second half of 2007/08 were placed on 27 September 2007).

23

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT
The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage these exposures. The company does
not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. The use of financial derivatives is
governed by the company’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written
principles in the use of financial derivatives.
At 30 September 2008 the company had in place forward exchange contracts to buy 2.6 million US
dollars at an average exchange rate of $1.90=£1, and 4.5 million euros at an average exchange rate of
€1.27=£1. These forward exchange contracts were taken out to mitigate the company’s foreign
currency risks on its forecast tea purchases and freeze-dried coffee processing costs over the next 12
months, respectively. As a result of these arrangements, at 30 September 2008 the company had an
unrealised gain of £84,000 in respect of the US dollar contracts and an unrealised loss of £14,000 in
respect of the Euro contracts. These figures represent the difference between the spot rate at the balance
sheet date and the average hedge rates entered into over the coming year. The directors consider these
arrangements give the company more certainty in managing its exposure to currency movements which
are required to meet the majority of its tea raw material purchases and freeze-dried coffee processing.
In addition a related party, Twin Trading Ltd, takes out forward exchange contracts on Cafédirect’s
behalf to mitigate the foreign exchange risk on Cafédirect’s forecast coffee bean purchases over the
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next 12 months. At 30 September 2008 Twin Trading Ltd had in place contracts to buy 5.7 million US
dollars at an average exchange rate of $1.92=£1, representing an unrealised gain of £203,000 against
the spot rate.
24

COMMODITY PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT
The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in commodity prices. The company
uses futures and options to manage these exposures. The company does not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.
At 30 September 2008 the company had in place futures contracts to buy 2 lots of coffee for $118,000.
These contracts were taken out to mitigate the company’s risks on future coffee purchases. As a result
of these arrangements, at 30 September 2008 the company had an unrealised loss of £4,000 in respect
of these contracts. This loss represents the difference between the market price at the balance sheet date
and the average contract prices. The directors consider these arrangements give the company more
certainty in managing its exposure to commodity price movements.

25

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
2008
£

2007
£

Debtor balances with related parties:
Trade debtors

281,848

269,609

Creditor balances with related parties:
Trade creditors
Accruals

88,009
49,929

143,725
54,883

1,974,009
5,437,425
728,938

2,355,648
4,222,877
668,376

The following are included in the financial statements:

Transactions with related parties:
Sale of goods
Purchase of goods
Services provided

The related parties comprise the four original shareholder companies Equal Exchange Trading Ltd,
Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin Trading Ltd, who each hold around 10% of the share
capital of the company, and Cafédirect Producers Ltd, which holds 4.9% of the company’s share
capital.
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